

PORTO

EVALUATION OF THE PREBIOTIC POTENTIAL OF *CORIOLUS* VERSICOLOR – EFFECT UPON THE HUMAN GUT MICROBIOTA

by

Célia Maria da Silva Freitas Costa

November 2018



PORTO

EVALUATION OF THE PREBIOTIC POTENTIAL OF CORIOLUS VERSICOLOR – EFFECT UPON THE HUMAN GUT MICROBIOTA

Thesis presented to *Escola Superior de Biotecnologia* of the *Universidade Católica Portuguesa* to fulfill the requirements of Master in Science degree in Applied Microbiology

by

Célia Maria da Silva Freitas Costa

Place: CBQF/Escola Superior de Biotecnologia da Universidade Católica Portuguesa

Supervision: Professor Maria Manuela Estevez Pintado

Co-Supervision: Lígia Pimentel, PhD; Sara Silva, PhD.

II

In loving memory of my grandparents,

Domingos José da Costa Maria Augusta Ferreira de Lemos Maria Armanda Vieira da Silva Rui António Morais de Freitas

You may write me down in history, with your bitter, twisted lies; You may trod me in the very dirt. But still, like dust, I'll rise.

Maya Angelou

Resumo

A microbiota intestinal humana tem-se tornado progressivamente mais relevante no estudo da saúde humana e de certas doenças, devido à sua ligação com o sistema imunitário e com o metabolismo humano. Um modo de modelar a microbiota intestinal é através da ingestão de prebióticos, que podem ser fermentados por bactérias benéficas presentes no cólon, resultando na produção de certos metabolitos considerados benignos, tais como os ácidos gordos de cadeia curta. O Coriolus versicolor é um cogumelo que, embora seja conhecido pelas suas propriedades imunomoduladoras e anticarcinogénicas, também foi anteriormente associado a uma potencial atividade prebiótica. No entanto, os estudos publicados focam se nas potencialidades dos extratos de C. versicolor, enquanto as propriedades da biomassa permanecem pouco estudadas. Assim, o principal objetivo do presente trabalho foi a avaliação do potencial prebiótico de um suplemento comercial de biomassa de C. versicolor, utilizando um modelo fecal in vitro. A fim de atingir o objetivo proposto, a biomassa foi primeiramente submetida a uma simulação do processo digestivo, após a qual esta foi utilizada para realizar fermentações usando fezes de cinco dadores distintos. Durante a fermentação foram recolhidas amostras às 0, 12, 24, e 48 h para realizar medições dos valores de pH e de as caracterizar relativamente à produção de ácidos orgânicos, particularmente, os ácidos gordos de cadeia curta (através de HPLC) e ao seu perfil microbiano (através de gPCR).

Apesar da variabilidade intrínseca associada à microbiota intestinal humana entre indivíduos, a presença da biomassa de C. versicolor resultou num aumento do número de cópias do gene 16S rRNA de Bifidobacterium para todos os dadores, em comparação com o controlo negativo, ainda que o aumento global tenha sido inferior ao do controlo positivo (FOS). Este comportamento foi observado após 24 h (controlo negativo- 0,203 ± 0,017; controlo positivo- 0,282 ± 0,011; C. versicolor- 0,238 ± 0,008, expresso como log do número de cópias de 16S rRNA por ng de ADN) e após 48 h (controlo negativo- 0.212 ± 0.016 ; controlo positivo - 0.301 ± 0.027 ; C. versicolor- 0.268 ± 0.011 , expresso como log do número de cópias de 16S rRNA por ng de ADN), mas não foram encontradas diferenças significativas entre as condições testadas após 12 h de incubação. Relativamente a outros grupos bacterianos (Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides, Clostridium leptum e Lactobacillus), não foi possível estabelecer uma tendência geral, mas apenas comportamentos específicos de cada dador. De um modo geral, quer o C. versicolor quer o FOS, resultaram numa diminuição dos valores de pH, por oposição ao controlo negativo, o que confirmou a produção de ácidos, como consequência do metabolismo bacteriano. No que se refere à quantificação dos ácidos gordos de cadeia curta e do ácido láctico, no fim da fermentação, a biomassa de C. versicolor levou à produção de ácido acético (0,212 ± $0,088 \text{ mg mL}^{-1}$), seguida de ácido láctico ($0,032 \pm 0,002 \text{ mg mL}^{-1}$), e do ácido propiónico ($0,018 \pm 0,007$ mg mL⁻¹). Em suma, é possível concluir que a biomassa de *C. versciolor* teve um efeito bifidogénico, relevante na demonstração do seu potencial prebiótico.

Palavras-chave: Microbiota intestinal; Prebióticos; Biomassa de cogumelos; Coriolus versicolor; SCFA

Abstract

The human gut microbiota has become increasingly relevant when considering human health and disease due to its connection with the immune system and human metabolism. One way of actively modulating the gut microbiota is through the ingestion of prebiotics, that can be fermented by beneficial members of the colonic population, resulting in the production of certain metabolites regarded as beneficial, such as Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFA). *Coriolus versicolor* is a mushroom that, while known for its immunomodulatory and anticarcinogenic properties has also been previously described as possessing some prebiotic potential. However, most studies focus on the potentialities of *C. versicolor* extracts, leaving the properties of its biomass unstudied. Hence, the main goal of the present work was to evaluate the prebiotic potential in a commercial supplement of *C. versicolor* biomass using an *in vitro* faecal model. In order to achieve the proposed goal, the biomass was first submitted to a digestion simulation after which, it was used to perform human faecal fermentations using faeces from five distinct donors. Samples were collected at 0, 12, 24 and 48 h, for pH measurements and to be characterized regarding organic acid production, with emphasis on SCFA (through HPLC), as well as characterize the microbial profile (through qPCR).

Despite the intrinsic variability of the human gut microbiota between individuals, the presence of C. versicolor biomass consistently resulted in an increase in the number of Bifidobacterium's 16S rRNA gene copies, for all donors when comparing to the negative control, although the overall increase was lower than the one registered for the positive control (i.e. FOS). This behaviour was observed after 24 h (negative control- 0.203 ± 0.017; positive control- 0.282 ± 0.011; C. versicolor- 0.238 ± 0.008, expressed in log of copy numbers of 16S rRNA per ng of DNA) and 48 h (negative control- 0.212 ± 0.016; positive control- 0.301 \pm 0.027; C. versicolor- 0.268 \pm 0.011, expressed in log of copy numbers of 16S rRNA per ng of DNA), but no significant differences were found between the assayed conditions after 12 h incubation. For the remaining bacterial groups characterized (Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides, Clostridium leptum and Lactobacillus) it was not possible to observe a general trend but only donor specific behaviours. Overall, both C. versicolor and FOS resulted in a decrease of the pH values, in opposition to the negative control, which confirmed the production of acids as a result of bacterial metabolism. As for SCFA and lactic acid quantification, at the end of the fermentation, C. versicolor biomass led to the production of acetic acid (0.212 \pm 0.088 mg mL⁻¹), lactic acid (0.032 \pm 0.002 mg mL⁻¹) and propionic acid (0.0184 \pm 0.007 mg mL⁻¹). In sum, it is possible to conclude that C. versicolor biomass had a bifidogenic effect and, therefore, could be interesting to its establishment as a prebiotic.

Keywords: Gut microbiota, Prebiotics, Mushroom biomass, Coriolus versicolor, SCFA.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to thank God for the precious gift of life, which I do not take for granted, and also the motherly intercession of Our Lady of Fátima, who guided me through this journey.

I wish to express my gratitude to the Catholic University, for giving me back the joy of learning and being a good student and for allowing me to attend this master's degree. In addition, I want to thank Professora Doutora Manuela Pintado, for the opportunity to work and carry out this thesis, and for all the guidance provided. I also intend to thank Doutora Lígia Pimentel for the support and for always being there for me during this project. I would also like to thank Sara, for all the support provided and for the valuable advices during this journey.

I would like to thank Mycology Research Laboratories and ANEID, ltd. for the support provided during this work.

I also wish to express my deepest gratitude to my grandparents and my parents. Thank you for teaching me high moral values, such as honesty, perseverance and hard work, and, above all, strong work ethics, which I try to keep in mind every day. Thank you for understanding the value of education and therefore allowing me to study. I also intend to thank my brother, for all the older-brother love, for staying by me side, and cheering me up! To my boyfriend Luís: you were my rock! You were with me through the thick and thin, and I will be forever grateful for all your love, help, motivation and patience. Thank you for all those prep-talks at Sunday night. "Step by step, brick by brick" we keep growing together and building this wonderful life project together. I completely share this humble achievement with you.

Rita and Catarina Férias- my forever knitting club- thank you for being my sweet BFFs. Rita, thank for all those long talks, for your valuable professional advices, and boundless friendship. Catarina, thank you for always having a good joke to crack me up. I also wish to thank all my *Chorus* friends- thank you for giving me a safe space to be myself and literally to sing my problems out.

Roberta Melquíades, we were a sweet surprise in this journey. Thank you for your calm presence during this year. I need to thank you from the bottom of my heart for keeping me motivated and confident in my work and for making me feel like a valuable worker and for assuring me that I wasn't crazy. I will keep close to my heart all the long talks we had.

To the lunch crew - Mariana, David, Margarida, Pedro, Bu, Eduardo and Sara - thank you for the best lunch times ever. Thank you for your help, humor and patience and for enduring all my anxiety. Mariana, thank you for reaching out to the outsiders, you are a good person and I will not forget your friendship. David, thank you for listening to all my diseases, even those which don't exist. Maggy-cheese, thank you for your energy, and for being so helpful. Pedro, I will never forget our intense and laborious lab journey, at least we weren't alone, and we were able to laugh a bit! Maria João, "Bu/wifey", thank you for all the good moments and for restraining my excessive energy. Eduardo, thank you for all the jokes, (even the hard ones), for motivating me through my work and for all the help. Sara, thank you for above all, being such a sweet and funny friend and for "the rules" that kept me calm and focused.

Table of contents

Resumo	V
Abstract	VII
Acknowledgements	IX
Figure Index	XIII
Table Index	XV
List of Abbreviations	XVII
1. Introduction	1
1.1. The gut microbiota	1
1.1.1. Influencing factors and modulators of gut microbiota	3
1.1.2. Microbiota metabolites and host interaction	4
1.1.2.1. Short chain fatty acids	4
1.1.3. Gut microbiota and health	6
1.1.4. Methods for gut microbiota monitorization	7
1.2. Prebiotics	9
1.3. Mushrooms as functional ingredients	10
1.3.2. Coriolus versicolor	12
1.4. Work objectives	13
2. Materials and Methods	15
2.1. Sample information	15
2.2. <i>In vitro</i> digestion simulation	15
2.3. Protein quantification and characterization	16
2.4. Free amino acids analysis	16
2.4.3. Mobile phase and reagent preparation	16
2.4.2 Chromatographic analysis	16
2.5. In vitro faecal fermentations	17
2.5.1. Collection and preparation of faecal inocula	17
2.5.2. Nutrient Base Medium preparation	17
2.5.3 Faecal fermentations	17
2.5.4. Faecal fermentation sample's processing	

2.6. Bacterial population analysis	18
2.6.1. DNA extraction	18
2.6.2. Real Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction	18
2.7. Sugars and SCFA analysis	21
2.8. Statistical analysis	21
3. Results and Discussion	23
3.1. Simulation of the gastrointestinal tract conditions	23
3.2. Impact of Coriolus versicolor biomass on gut microbiota	27
3.2.1. Microbial population modulation	27
3.1. Production of SCFA	43
4. Conclusions	49
5. Future Work	51
6. Appendixes	53
6.1. Appendix I- Informed consent form	53
6.2. Appendix II- Instructions for stool specimen collection	53
6.3. Appendix III- Bacterial calibration curves for qPCR	56
6.4. Appendix IV- Real time PCR results and statistical analysis.	59
7. Annexes	65
7.1. Annex I- NZY tissue gDNA isolation kit	65
References	69

Figure Index

 Figure 1.1. Phylogenetic tree of the human gut microbiota. The numbers in parentheses indicate the number of cultured species per phylum. Reprinted from Rajilić-Stojanović and de Vos (2014).

 Figure 1.2. Relation between diet, gut and metabolism. Reprinted from (Flint et al., 2015).
 .4

 Figure 1.3. Example of the metabolic pathways of acetate, butyrate and propionate production.
 .4

 Reprinted from Flint et al. (2015)
 .5

 Figure 1.4. Coriolus versicolor. Reprinted from Midwest Mycological Information.
 .12

 Figure 3.1. FPLC profile of C. versicolor biomass throughout the digestion simulation.
 .11

 Figure 3.2. Overall variation of the distinct bacterial groups. (A) Negative Control; (B) Positive Control;
 .23

 Figure 3.3. Variation of the distinct bacterial groups. (A) Negative Control; (B) Positive Control;
 .28

 Figure 3.3. Variation of microbiota composition in donor A. Values presented as log 16S rRNA gene copies/ng of DNA through time, with standard deviation error bars. •C-, negative control;
 •C+, positive control; •Cv, C. versicolor.

Figure 3.8. Example of the chromatogram obtained for a sample supplemented with C. versicolor digested biomass, after 24 h of fermentation. Each injection was carried out in duplicate.43

<i>Figure 6.1.</i> Calibration curve for Firmicutes population prepared using gDNA solutions from Lactobacillus gasseri
Figure 6.2. Calibration curve for Bacteroidetes prepared using gDNA solutions from Bacteroides vulgatus
Figure 6.3. Calibration curve for Bacteroides prepared using gDNA solutions from Bacteroides vulgatus
<i>Figure 6.4.</i> Calibration curve for C. leptum subgroup prepared using gDNA solutions from C. leptum
<i>Figure 6.5.</i> Calibration curve for Lactobacillus subgroup prepared using gDNA solutions from Lactobacillus gasseri
Figure 6.6. Calibration curve for Bifidobacterium prepared using gDNA solutions from Bifidobacterium longum subs Infantis

Table Index

Table 1.1. Main functions of the gut microbiota. Adapted from Quigley (2013)
Table 1.2. Example of techniques used to describe gut microbiota. Adapted from (Fraher et al., 2012).
Table 1.2. Mushroom properties and respective bioactive compounds 12
Table 2.1. Real-time PCR conditions 18
Table 2.2. Primer sequences targeting bacterial groups, genomic DNA standards and PCR product size.Adapted from Marques et al. (2016).20
Table 3.1. Amino acid identification and quantification of the samples collected initially andthroughout digestion. Each sample was injected in triplicate.26
Table 3.2. Overall variation, considering the 5 different donors, of the distinct bacterial groups(mean ± standard deviation).29
Table 3.3. Concentrations obtained for sugars consumed and organic acids produced during the fermentation of the C. versicolor biomass and controls. The values are presented in mg L^{-1} and correspond to an average of the five donors, including two injections of each of each sample
Table 6.1. Variation of microbiota in donor A. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.
Table 6.2. Variation of microbiota in donor B. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.
Table 6.3. Variation of microbiota in donor C. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation. 61
Table 6.4. Variation of microbiota in donor D. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation. 62
Table 6.5. Variation of microbiota in donor E. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.

List of Abbreviations

16S rRNA	Small Subunit Ribosomal Ribonucleic Acid
ALD	Alcoholic Liver Disease
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AU	Absorbance Units
CFU	Colony Forming Units
CNS	Central Nervous System
CoA	Coenzyme A
Cq	Quantification Cycle
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
DB	Degree of branching
DGGE	Denaturating Gradient Gel Electrophoresis
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DP	Degree of Polymerization
EDTA	Ethylenediamine Tetra Acetic Acid
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
F/B	Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes Ratio
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization for the United Nations
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FI	Faecal Inocula
FISH	Fluorescent <i>in situ</i> Hybridization
FOS	Fructooligosaccharides
FPLC	Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography
GI	Gastrointestinal
GOS	Galactooligosaccharides
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography

HSV	
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
IM	Isomaloologosaccharide
ISAPP	International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics
ОРА	Phthaldialdehyde
MW	Molecular Weight
NAFLD	Non-alcoholic Liver Disease
рН	Cologarithm of the hydrogen cation concentration
PSK	Polysaccharopeptide Krestin
PSP	Polysaccharopeptide
qPCR	Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction
RFU	Relative Fluorescence Units
RNA	
RPS	
RT-PCR	
SCFA	Short Chain Fatty Acids
ТЕ	Tris Ethylenediamine Tetra Acetic Acid buffer
TGGE	Temperature Gradient Gel Electrophoresis
T-RFLP	Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
v/v %	volume/ volume percentage
XOS	Xyloologosaccharide

1. Introduction

1.1. The gut microbiota

Over the last decade, the importance of the human gut microbiota in metabolic homeostasis and health has been widely recognized and due to its importance has been recently named as the "forgotten organ". A deeper understanding of the microbiota's functions, composition and interactions with the host has made some authors compare it to the immune system, since it is comprised of a group of different cells that, together, can either promote health or trigger disease (Marchesi *et al.*, 2016, Sun *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, the composition of the gastrointestinal (GI) microbiota varies along the GI ecosystem with the stomach and proximal small intestine containing a small number of bacteria (due to digestive secretions), while in the ileum and jejunum viable cell numbers may reach *ca.* 10⁹ CFU mL⁻¹ (mostly aerobic microorganisms) and in the colon *ca.* 10¹² CFU mL⁻¹ viable cell counts may be found, with the local microbiota being comprised of mainly anaerobic microorganisms (Million *et al.*, 2013, Quigley, 2013).

From a composition standpoint, the gut microbiota is mainly comprised by bacteria with several papers reporting on this composition, but virus and eukaryotic organisms can also be found in the gut microbiome (Arumugam et al., 2011, Eckburg et al., 2005, Qin et al., 2010). The human GI microbiota has been described as encompassing 300 to 500 different bacterial species that, despite being frequently regarded as a two phyla ecosystem (Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes), is comprised of at least ten different phyla such as Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria or Verrucomicrobia, among others. However, the actual composition of the microbiota is still somewhat unknown as, in spite of the possible combination of molecular techniques and culture based identification methods, there are still many microorganisms that lack taxonomic classification, notwithstanding the intrinsic variations between individuals (Rajilić-Stojanović and de Vos, 2014) (Figure 1.1.). In addition to the increasingly consensual phylum level composition of the human gut and to the idea of the microbiota profile as unique as a fingerprint, the concept of clustering microbiota in enterotypes has gained ground. An example of this, is the work of Arumugam et al. (2011) who hypothesized if the inter-individual variability was only a result of slight changes in the microbial community or if the microbiota could be clustered around certain stable microbial communities. Nevertheless, factors determining the enterotype clustering are still somewhat controversial (sex, body mass index, age, etc) although, three main clusters have already been described in the adult microbiome: Prevotella, Ruminococcus or Bacteroides (Quigley, 2013, Wu et al., 2011).

In addition to bacteria, the human gut is also colonized by viruses (in particular siphophages and prophages, both bacteriophages) and eukaryotic organisms. As bacteriophages infect and replicate within bacteria, they may influence the bacterial population. Furthermore, it has been reported that each individual has a distinct virome whose composition can be affected by diet (Breitbart *et al.*, 2003, Marchesi, 2010, Minot *et al.*, 2011). In parallel, the gut is also colonized by eukaryotes such as fungal species and even some protozoa. While most fungi are Ascomycota and Basidiomycota, fungal diversity varies throughout the gut and is distinct from faeces (Marchesi, 2010). In later years there has been an

increase in evidences that demonstrate that some protozoa may be commensal residents of the human gut which has led to a discussion on the need to re-evaluate the role of protozoa as parasites, since some may have a beneficial effect. For example, reports have shown that *Blastocystis* can be frequently found in healthy individuals (Lukeš *et al.*, 2015, Chabe *et al.*, 2017, Chudnovskiy *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 1.1. Phylogenetic tree of the human gut microbiota. The numbers in parentheses indicate the number of cultured species per phylum. Reprinted from Rajilić-Stojanović and de Vos (2014).

In order to understand the impact of the gut microbiota upon host homeostasis, and therefore its role in health and disease, it is necessary to comprehend the range of functions it plays (**Table 1.1**.). As an example of the proposed range of influence of the gut microbiota, several authors have suggested the existence of a gut-brain axis, *i.e.* it has been hypothesized that the microbiota may play a relevant role in the functioning and development of the Central Nervous System (CNS), influencing emotions, human behaviour and even contributing to the amelioration of some neurodegenerative conditions (Szablewski, 2018, Hu *et al.*, 2016, Klingelhoefer and Reichmann, 2015, Mayer *et al.*, 2015, Carabotti *et al.*, 2015, Cryan and Dinan, 2012). Furthermore, it has been suggested that some bacteria produce neurotransmitters and neuromodulators that can affect gut functions like motility (Bienenstock *et al.*, 2015, Carabotti *et al.*, 2015, Sampson and Mazmanian, 2015) or impact inflammation and acid production in the gut (Strandwitz, 2018, Mittal *et al.*, 2017). From a different perspective, since the nervous system communicates with the immune system, the impact of microbiota-brain interactions may also result in immunomodulatory effects, that go beyond those previously associated with microbiota (Wang and Kasper, 2014, El Aidy *et al.*, 2014, Cryan and Dinan, 2012).

Function		
1. Metabolite production	•	Produces SCFA
	•	Produces arginine and glutamine
	•	Synthesis of vitamins K and B
	•	Participates in drug metabolism
	•	Rescues calories
2. Deconjugation of bile acids		
3. Immunologic effects	•	Stimulates Immunoglobulin A (IgA) production
	•	Promotes anti-inflammatory cytokines and down regulates the proinflammatory ones
	•	Induces regulatory T cells

Table 3.1. Main functions associated with the gut microbiota. Adapted from Quigley (2013).

4. Prevention of pathogens colonization

1.1.1. Influencing factors and modulators of gut microbiota

Many endogenous or exogenous factors can influence the microbiota composition (e.g. age, ethnicity, diet, genetic markers or geographic location) and consequently influence the host's wellbeing. For example, the microbiota of a newborn has a low diversity, gaining complexity as the child ages until it reaches a completely developed and distinct microbial profile, similar to that of an adult, after ca. 2.5 years. Furthermore, the gut microbiota can be actively modulated by diet, which in turn it is influenced by the geographic location, in particular concerning fibres, proteins, sugar and fat intake. As such, De Filippo et al. (2010) noticed differences on the microbiota of African and Italian children with the latter registering higher protein and starch intakes and the former possessing a higher vegetable fibre intake. Similarly, in a study conducted with obese adults, the change from a high-fat/low fibre diet to a low fat/high fibre one, induced changes in the gut microbiota profile, therefore confirming the influence of diet upon gut bacterial composition (Clemente et al., 2012, Conlon and Bird, 2015, Wu et al., 2013). On a different perspective, the consumption of prebiotics, probiotics or antibiotics can induce changes in microbiota composition (Million et al., 2013). Prebiotics are food ingredients/components that can be selectively fermented by gut microbiota and alter it, promoting an increase in beneficial bacteria (Bindels et al., 2015). Probiotics are live bacteria, whose consumption is perceived as beneficial to the host with effects that are, typically, strain specific (Quigley, 2010). Both prebiotics and probiotics have shown to improve Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium levels in the gut microbiota, but the composition changes observed are relatively small and temporary (Angelakis et al., 2013, Conlon and Bird, 2015). Antibiotics, whether prescribed or ingested through the food chain, can negatively impact the gut microbiota and, while some bacterial species have fast recovery rates, others suffer harder effects (Conlon and Bird, 2015). In fact, prolonged antibiotic consumption and/or high therapeutic dosages may even cause longterm dysbiosis, a condition characterized by a reduction in microbial diversity with loss of important taxa and consequent metabolic and homeostatic alterations (Lange et al., 2016, Quigley, 2013).

1.1.2. Microbiota metabolites and host interaction



Figure 1.2. Relation between diet, gut and metabolism. Reprinted from Flint et al. (2015).

Gut microbiota has a major role in host's metabolism and physiology, particularly regarding energy use and the synthesis of absorbable components. Overall, gut microbiota contains ca. 3 million genes, several of which encode information for enzymes that, while important, are not present in the human genetic information and therefore represent a significant contribution for the human metabolism (Rowland et al., 2017, Flint et al., 2015). Ingested dietary components may have a wide range of influence in the gut (schematically represented in Figure 1.2.). The gut microbiota metabolizes undigested food components (e.g. dietary fibres and indigestible proteins), with preference for the fermentation of carbohydrates. This fermentative process may result in the production of beneficial metabolites, typically Short Chain Fatty Acids (SCFA) like

propionate and butyrate. In contrast, the fermentation of undigested proteins and fat results also in the production of SCFA, but with greater variety of metabolites such as ammonia, amines, thiols, indoles, phenols, H₂S, H₂ and CO₂, many of which have potentially toxic effects (Rowland *et al.*, 2017, Ríos-Covián *et al.*, 2016).

1.1.2.1. Short chain fatty acids

Short Chain Fatty Acids are molecules with less than 6 carbons chains (linear or branched) that can be produced by different bacteria through an array of pathways (**Figure 1.3.**). The ingestion of fibres leads to the production of SCFA which in turn lowers the pH values in the colon. This pH oscillation induces alterations in the overall bacterial composition and inhibits the growth of pathogenic bacteria like Enterobacteriaceae or Clostridia (den Besten *et al.*, 2013, Flint *et al.*, 2012, Sun and O'Riordan, 2013). So, as the SCFA concentration decreases from proximal colon to distal colon, the pH value increases. From a different perspective, the production of SCFA has also been associated with the preservation of the gut barrier, a multi-layer complex system which constitutes a physical and functional barrier, as butyrate, for example, has been related to an increased mucin production and to lead to stronger tight-junctions (Ríos-Covián *et al.*, 2016, den Besten *et al.*, 2013, Viggiano *et al.*, 2015). Different SCFA, particularly acetate, butyrate and propionate, have been reported to exert specific effects in the host.

As above mentioned, butyrate has been associated with an increased mucin production and with the improvement of the integrity of tight-junctions. Once formed, this SCFA may be absorbed by the colonocytes and used as the preferred energy source or enter the circulatory system to then be metabolized in the liver. Additionally, butyrate has been associated with anti-inflammatory and anti-

carcinogenic activities as well as with the activation of intestinal gluconeogenesis (Flint *et al.*, 2015, Rowland *et al.*, 2017). The minority that is not absorbed by the colonocytes is transported to the liver where it participates in lipid biosynthesis. Butyrate production is commonly associated with Firmicutes, including members of Clostridium IV and XIVa clusters, and it can be synthetized through two distinct pathways: Butyrate kinase and Coenzyme A transferase.

Acetate, one of the most abundant SCFA is regarded as essential to the growth of gut bacteria and has been reported to be a co-factor in the growth of certain microbial species. Moreover, it represents a minor energy source for colonocytes and so, when it reaches the liver, it is introduced into the lipid's biosynthesis pathway. Acetate is mostly produced by enteric bacteria, namely Bacteroidetes and *Bifidobacterium*, as a result of carbohydrate's fermentation, through the hydrolysis of acetyl-CoA. A smaller portion is synthetized by acetogenic bacteria that utilize hydrogen, carbon dioxide or formic acid, through the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway (Ríos-Covián *et al.*, 2016).

Propionate, which can be produced through three different pathways (acrylate, succinate or propanediol pathway), represents a minor energy source for colonocytes, but has been known for its interaction with the immune system, exerting an anti-inflammatory effect. When taken up by the liver, it interferes with liver gluconeogenesis (Flint *et al.*, 2015, Rowland *et al.*, 2017). Propionate's production is mainly associated to Bacteroidetes, Verrucomicrobia and to bacteria belonging to *Negativutes*.



Figure 1.3. Example of the metabolic pathways of acetate, butyrate and propionate production. Reprinted from Flint et al. (2015).

1.1.3. Gut microbiota and health

The microbiota has been described as essential for the development of the mucosa and the immune system while also constituting a physical barrier and directly competing with pathogens for colonizing space and nutrients. Therefore, the microbiota is considered to play an important role in well-being, with dysbiosis playing a role in several pathologies such as obesity, liver diseases, Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) or even colorectal cancer (CRC) (Marchesi *et al.*, 2016).

As stated previously, the gut microbiota is often regarded as a two phyla system (Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes) with an imbalance between these two groups often being associated with some health conditions. In fact, an abundance of Firmicutes and low Bacteroidetes levels has been reported to be linked with several obese phenotypes, with authors hypothesizing that a modulation of the first could contribute to the prevention/amelioration of obesity, an increasingly frequent pathology (Bastien *et al.*, 2014, Hruby and Hu, 2015, Morgen and Sørensen, 2014). Nevertheless, the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio (F/B) and its association with obesity is controversial since contradictory evidences can be found in literature, *i.e.* obese volunteers' microbiota did not exhibit high levels of Firmicutes and low levels of Bacteroidetes (Schwiertz *et al.*, 2010, Duncan *et al.*, 2008, Finucane *et al.*, 2014). Overall, obesity is still considered a multifactorial pathology that results from a continuous imbalance between energy intake and expense, and therefore is highly dependent on the individual's lifestyle, which makes it difficult to consider the gut microbiota as a direct and single cause or solution for this problem (Wang *et al.*, 2017).

A dysbiotic state can be triggered by genetic or environmental factors such as diet or alcohol consumption, with the liver being one of the most affected organs by this state (most of the liver's blood supply comes from the intestines through the portal vein) (Guinane and Cotter, 2013). In alcohol induced dysbiosis the liquor consumption has been reported to cause an overgrowth of certain gut bacteria, in detriment of other beneficial ones. While some authors mention the general overgrowth of Gram negative bacteria, due to the increase of endotoxin levels (Hartmann et al., 2013, Purohit et al., 2008), Engen et al. (2015) described an increase in Proteobacteria, Fusobacteria and Firmicutes, particularly in Bacilli. The stimulated bacteria metabolize alcohol into other substances that affect mucin production and tight junction proteins' expression. This, in turn, results in an increase of the gut barrier's permeability to bacteria and their endotoxins, which will affect the liver's homeostasis and stimulate the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, leading to a pathology known as Alcoholic Liver Disease (ADL) (Cassard et al., 2017, Hartmann et al., 2015). Genetic factors, such as the mutation of patatinlike phospholipase (highly related to liver fat accumulation) and/or environmental factors which are related to dysbiosis (such as obesity, diabetes or hypertriglyceridemia) can also contribute to the development and progression of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD). In fact, the role of the intestinal microbiota has been reported to be crucial to the pathogenesis of NAFLD, through the association with obese phenotypes, the promotion of liver inflammation and the production of metabolites, like ethanol, which are toxic to hepatocytes (Gkolfakis et al., 2015, Boursier et al., 2016). Prebiotics and probiotics, acknowledged gut microbiota modulators, may pose an interesting therapeutic resource in the amelioration/control of both ADL and NAFLD, but it still requires a better insight into the mechanisms involving gut bacteria and liver damages (Dubinkina et al., 2017, Boursier et al., 2016).

Dysbiosis has also been associated with other pathologies such as Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD), which is characterized by the chronic inflammation of the GI tract in response to environmental factors, in genetically susceptible hosts. Inflammatory Bowel Disease is a term for two conditions: Crohn's disease and Ulcerative Colitis. The most commonly observed pattern for this condition is an overall decrease in bacterial diversity (particularly Firmicutes) coupled with an increase in Proteobacteria. Although some studies point at a causative role of gut bacteria in IBD, it is unclear if dysbiosis is a cause or a consequence of the intestinal inflammation (Matsuoka and Kanai, 2015, Hold *et al.*, 2014). Regardless, the modulation of the gut microbiota, through prebiotic and probiotic consumption or even faecal transplantation, are perceived as good potential therapeutic strategies for these pathologies (Marchesi *et al.*, 2016, Cassard *et al.*, 2017, Matsuoka and Kanai, 2015, Kamada *et al.*, 2013b).

There is accumulating evidence suggesting the involvement of dysbiosis in colorectal carcinogenesis development. Once again, this dysbiotic state can be triggered by environmental factors, such as a high fat/high sugar diet, giving CRC a geographic incidence on western countries. In addition, the host may bear a genetic predisposition to carcinogenesis (Gagnière *et al.*, 2016). It is becoming increasingly accepted that certain pathogens may pose a pro-carcinogenic stimuli through their capacity to alter colonocytes' metabolism via their adherent and invasive properties and their metabolic output (which is perceived to promote continuous inflammatory responses). Some particular bacterial species have been identified as potentially linked to CRC such as, *Streptococcus bovis, Fusobacterium* spp., *Helicobacter pylori, Bacteroides fragillis* or *Escherichia coli* (Gagnière *et al.*, 2016, Louis *et al.*, 2014). Diet can then play an important role in CRC prevention, since high fibre intakes can lead to an increase in SCFA production, which are essential to the gut homeostasis, some have anti-carcinogenic activity and promote cellular mechanisms that contribute to the tissue integrity (Wang *et al.*, 2017, Conlon and Bird, 2015, den Besten *et al.*, 2013).

1.1.4. Methods for gut microbiota monitorization

For many years, culture-dependent methods were the gold standard for identifying bacteria. However, despite being a cheap and quantitative approach, these methods are not only labour intensive but they disregard non-culturable bacteria and therefore introduce a significant bias in the results (Fraher *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, the development of culture-independent methods, particularly sequencing techniques, allowed for a better insight into the microbial environment. Most of the commonly used techniques are either based on the comparison of highly conserved sequences, such as the small subunit ribosomal Ribonucleic Acid (16S rRNA) or in a shotgun approach (Clarridge, 2004, Lozupone *et al.*, 2012). For instance, Queipo-Ortuno *et al.* (2013) used Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) to evaluate differences in 16S rRNA and compare the composition of the gut microbiota of rat models with distinct diets and physical activity levels. On the other hand, Yatsunenko *et al.* (2012) reported a shotgun approach to characterize bacterial population of human faecal samples, and evaluate the gene content. De Filippo *et al.* (2010) compared the faecal microbiota of European and African children using a high-throughput 16S rRNA sequencing approach combined with biochemical analysis.

The 16S rRNA, one of the most commonly used genes, contains both highly conserved and variable regions and allows for the identification of microorganisms down to the species level. The sequencing

or amplification of this gene allows for an assessment of the microbial diversity (using either a qualitative or quantitative approach) and therefore the monitorization of microbial population shifts and their subsequent association with altered metabolic states. Some examples of techniques using conserved sequences are qPCR, Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR), Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP) and techniques that also rely on fluorescence emission like Fluorescent *in situ* Hybridization (FISH) and Flow Cytometry. On the other hand, the random shotgun approach implies the sequencing of the entire microbiota community's Deoxyribonucleic Acid (DNA), with it being broken into small constant-sized fragments that can then be compared with existing databases. This high throughput approach allows for the quantification of the relative microorganism's proportions as well as for the establishment of a phylogenetic profile. However, on the down side, and although the costs are decreasing, these techniques are still expensive, and the large amounts of data typically generated frequently require the application of bioinformatic tools. Some of these techniques are summarized in the **Table 1.2.** along with their advantages and disadvantages (Fraher *et al.*, 2012, Ngom-Bru and Barretto, 2012, Thomas *et al.*, 2015).

Technique	Advantages	Disadvantages
qPCR	Phylogenetic identification Quantitative approach Fast analysis	PCR bias Unable to identify unknown species
DGGE/TGGE	Semi-quantitative approach Bands can be retrieved for further analysis Fast analysis	No phylogenetic identification PCR bias
T-RFLP	Semi-quantitative approach Low cost Fast analysis	No phylogenetic identification PCR bias
FISH	Phylogenetic identification Semi-quantitative data No PCR bias	Dependent on probe sequences Unable to identify unknown species
DNA microarrays	Phylogenetic identification Semi-quantitative Fast procedure	Cross hybridization, PCR bias, can be difficult to detect in low amounts
Cloned 16S rRNA gene sequencing	Phylogenetic identification Quantitative data	PCR bias, difficult, expensive, cloning bias
Direct sequencing of 16S rRNA amplicons	Phylogenetic identification Quantitative data Fast procedure Identification of unknown bacteria	PCR bias, expensive, difficult
Microbiome shotgun sequencing	Phylogenetic identification Quantitative data	Expensive; analysis of data is difficult

Table 1.2. Examp	le of techniques	used to describe gu	ut microbiota. Ada	pted from	(Fraher et al.,	2012).
------------------	------------------	---------------------	--------------------	-----------	-----------------	--------

qPCR – Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction; DGGE – Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis; TGGE – Temperature Gradient Gel Electrophoresis; T-RFLP – Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism; FISH – Fluorescent *in situ* Hybridization;

1.2. Prebiotics

As a result of a growing concern with dietary habits and their impact upon the health and wellbeing, functional foods and additives that may have a beneficial health effect, namely through intestinal microbiota modulation, have gathered the interest of the scientific community, the industry and the consumers. As previously mentioned in section 1.1.1. prebiotics are a specific example of this phenomena. In December of 2016, the International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) reviewed the latest definition of prebiotic defining it as a substrate that is selectively utilized by host microorganisms conferring a health benefit. The word 'substrate' refers to a substance from which an organism obtains nourishment and therefore excludes compounds that function as antimicrobial substances or other microorganisms; *i.e.* the 'substrate' should be a part of the normal metabolism of the bacterial cells and not function as an inhibitor. The concept of selectivity goes beyond the specific stimulation of bifidobacteria or lactobacilli. It can actually encompass more than one bacterial group as long as the microorganisms affected, and metabolites produced, are related to a health benefit and do not lead to gas production. Finally, the notion of health benefit implied in the prebiotic concept is difficult to prove since the effects of prebiotics vary between individuals. Regardless, there is a conceptual need to establish a causality relation between a specific action on microbial population and a positive health outcome, with all of this having in mind that the potential health benefits may occur beyond the GI tract, such as in the cardiovascular (e.g. blood lipid levels modulation) and nervous systems (e.g. through metabolites that influence brain function) (Gibson et al., 2017).

On a different note, some prebiotic related concepts need to be clarified, such as the similarity/differences between prebiotics, dietary fibres, and bioactive polysaccharides, particularly as they are frequently claimed to have the same beneficial effects and/or have the same nature (carbohydrates). Bioactive polysaccharides are carbohydrates, from a natural source, that show specific biological activity (Bindels *et al.*, 2015, Quigley, 2010). The term dietary fibre refers to carbohydrate polymers, with ten or more monomeric units, which are hydrolysed by colonic bacteria exogenous enzymes (Bindels *et al.*, 2015, Quigley, 2010). The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) stated that a prebiotic can be a dietary fibre, but a fibre does not have to be a prebiotic. Regulatory agencies around the world, such as the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or Europe's European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), have distinct criteria when defining prebiotics, a fact that significantly impacts the labelling of foodstuffs. Therefore the food industry is interested in developing a stable and universal definition of prebiotic, particularly as this concept gains the consumer's acceptance (Hutkins *et al.*, 2016).

The categories of prebiotics vary according to their origin and/or structure. Their monosaccharide composition, the degree of polymerization (DP), chain length and the type of linkage between monomers determines where and how it will interact with the microbiota, since they affect which species will be stimulated and in which portion of the gut the fermentation will occur. Prebiotics are frequently classified according to their number of monomeric units and the nature of the first residue (fructose or glucose). The most commonly recognized prebiotics in Europe are inulin, galactooligosaccharides (GOS),

fructooligosaccharides (FOS), polydextrose and lactulose while other oligosaccharides, such as xylooligosaccharides (XOS) and isomalooligosaccharides (IMO) are considered emerging prebiotics (Jain *et al.*, 2015, Gibson *et al.*, 2017). Inulin has a DP above 10 whereas the other oligosaccharides are short chains of 3 to 10 monomers. It is important to consider that prebiotic compounds may affect the organoleptic properties of foods. For example, inulin has been widely used by the food industry as a fat replacer and/or a texture modifier due to its ability to form gels, but it is not associated with a sweet flavour. FOS has a good solubility and is mainly used as a sugar replacement and for its prebiotic properties. GOS is known for being very resistant to acidic conditions and high temperatures, which facilitates its incorporation into warm or acid foodstuffs although their main application is in infant formulas. Whole grains and some dietary fibres, resistant starches, arabinoxylan and non-carbohydrates, with a gut microbiota modulating effect, are potential candidates to be recognized as prebiotics (Patel and Goyal, 2012, Bindels *et al.*, 2015, Quigley, 2010, De Souza Oliveira *et al.*, 2011, Aachary and Prapulla, 2011).

As previously mentioned, prebiotics, either naturally occurring or incorporated into foods, will affect the microbiota composition and its metabolic activity. To accomplish this, they must pass through most of the human GI tract without being digested by human enzymes and therefore reach the colon almost unaltered, where they can then be fermented by certain bacterial species. The majority of prebiotics target bifidobacteria which are strongly associated with healthy gut environment (Christensen *et al.*, 2013, Vandenplas *et al.*, 2015). Thus, most prebiotics increase bifidobacteria levels, in turn inhibiting the growth of pathogenic bacteria (Yoo and Kim, 2016). Prebiotic's consumption has also been associated with a positive impact upon lipid metabolism (and a subsequent cholesterol reduction) and with a beneficial effect upon the immune system as they have been reported to alleviate the inflammatory responses in conditions such as IBD. Moreover, prebiotic's ingestion may also affect cellular apoptosis, consequently reducing the rates of CRC, as well as affect the bioavailability of minerals like calcium (Pineiro *et al.*, 2008, Patel and Goyal, 2012, Slavin, 2013, Charalampopoulos and Rastall, 2012).

1.3. Mushrooms as functional ingredients

Mushrooms' consumption has begun many centuries ago in Asia, but nowadays it has spread worldwide, becoming more relevant in our nutrition. In fact, the current worldwide consumption *per capita* reaches 4 kg per person. Their associated health benefits and a deeper consumer awareness have contributed to this tendency (Royse, 2014, Aida *et al.*, 2009). Overall, there are around 5.1 million fungal species in world with 12 000 to 14 000 of these being considered mushrooms of which only 2 000 species are considered edible. Five genera constitute 85% of the world's mushroom growth namely *Agaricus, Pleurotus, Lentinula, Auricularia* and *Flammulina* (Royse, 2014, Cruz *et al.*, 2016).

Mushrooms can be found as fresh, biomass or extract. The biomass is comprised of the mycelium and the primordia and is produced using a sterilized substrate to prevent contamination with other fungi and

ensure the absence of heavy metals and pesticides. Mushroom biomass is also more resistant to gastric fluids than extracts, since the biomass granules and cells represent a structural barrier (protecting bioactive ingredients from digestion) and it possesses not only the typical polysaccharides, but also active enzymes, which prevent oxidative stress, enhance immunity, *etc.* This product is usually considered a food or dietary supplement. On the other hand, mushroom extract is a concentrated extract of the mushroom's fruiting bodies. This product has been more extensively studied and has a higher market value. Nevertheless, they lack enzymatic activity because the extraction process results in the denaturation of proteins. The extracts are often associated with the concept of 'nutraceuticals' or 'pharmaceutical compounds'. However, it is important to understand the lack of consistency regarding the application of terminology such as 'functional food', 'nutraceutical' and 'dietary supplement', since the criteria varies from country to country (Ferrão L, 2017, Cruz *et al.*, 2016, Barros *et al.*, 2016b).

Currently, there are several mushroom based supplements as summarized by Reis *et al.* (2017): powder, hot water or alcoholic extracts from artificially cultivated fruiting bodies; combined preparations of substrate, mycelium and primordial mushroom, dried and pulverized; biomass or extracts from mycelium harvested from liquid culture grown in bioreactors; naturally grown and dried mushroom fruiting bodies, as tablets or capsules or spores and their extracts.

Mushrooms are made up of enzymes (*e.g.* peroxidase, β -glucanase), polysaccharides (*e.g.* α - and β -glucans, hemicellulose, chitin), glycoproteins (*e.g.* Polysaccharide Krestin (PSK), Polysaccharopeptide (PSP)), lipids (*e.g.* cholesterol), minerals (*e.g.* germanium), vitamins (*e.g.* B1, B2, D2, C), terpenes (*e.g.* triterpenes) and phenolic compounds (*e.g.* flavonoids). They are often considered a low-calorie food, due to their high-water, proteins and fibre content and low amounts of fat. These components, in particular polysaccharides, have many potential benefits associated, which are listed in **Table 1.3.** (Cruz *et al.*, 2016, Aida *et al.*, 2009).

Properties	Bioactive Compounds	Reference
Antitumor	Lentinan Glucan Mushroom biomass Glucan <i>Hericium erinaceus</i> extracts	Okamoto <i>et al.</i> (2004), Kim <i>et al.</i> (2004), Zhang <i>et al.</i> (2009), Li <i>et al.</i> (2014)
Antiviral	anti-HSV protein polysaccharide Fruiting bodies	Gu <i>et al.</i> (2007), Faccin <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2007), Hobbs (2000)
Immunomodulation	β-D-Glucan Cordycepin Mycelium polysaccharide Crude polysaccharide	Kim <i>et al.</i> (2005), El Enshasy and Hatti-Kaul (2013), Yang <i>et al.</i> (2004), Chen <i>et al.</i> (2012), Bimczok <i>et al.</i> (2009)
Antioxidant	Phenolic compounds <i>G. lucidum</i> peptide Ethanolic extract Polysaccharides	Jayakumar <i>et al.</i> (2009), Sun <i>et al.</i> (2004), Liu <i>et al.</i> (2013), Ker <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Prebiotic	β-Glucans PSP	Synytsya <i>et al.</i> (2009), Chen <i>et al.</i> (2013), (Pallav <i>et al.</i> , 2014)

Table 1.4. Mushroom properties and respective bioactive compounds.

PSP - Polysaccharopeptide; HSV - Herpes Simplex Virus

1.3.2. Coriolus versicolor

Coriolus versicolor, also known as *Trametes versicolor* or *Polyporus versicolor,* belongs to the genus *Coriolus,* family Polyporaceae, order Polyporales and division Basidiomycotina. It is an obligate aerobe fungus and has a fan-shaped wavy margin and coloured concentric zones (**Figure 1.4.**). It can be found the entire year, on tree trunks, branches and stumps in temperate forests of the northern hemisphere



Figure 1.4. Coriolus versicolor. *Reprinted from Midwest Mycological Information.*

(Asia, Europe and North America). The fruiting body of this mushroom, known as Yun-zhi, has been used for centuries in traditional Chinese medicine. Chu *et al.* (2002) reports that it is documented that *C. versicolor* exerts effects on the host's immune function increasing energy, removing toxins, lifting the spirit, among others. In fact, *C. versicolor* derived preparations have been included in the modern clinical practice of Asian countries such as Japan or Korea. In a different perspective, this species has also been studied for its potential to bioconvert lignocellulosic wastes (Cruz *et al.*, 2016, Chen *et al.*, 2013, Cui and Chisti, 2003, Dashtban *et al.*, 2009, López *et al.*, 2002).

Like for other mushrooms, *C. versicolor* can be commercially found either as an extract or as biomass formulations which have distinct compositions and are produced using different parts of the mushroom. Extracts are the most widely used and studied with the most common ones being PSP or PSK), which are among the most commercially successful supplements in the world (Cui and Chisti, 2003, Chang and Buswell, 2008). On the other hand, as previously mentioned, biomass contains other biologically relevant compounds such as enzymes, which in turn, given their presence within the mushroom tissues, are more protected from the digestion's effect.

Coriolus versicolor polysaccharides (both intra and extracellular) have been associated with an array of health benefits namely antitumoral (Luo et al., 2014, Lee et al., 2006, Sekhon et al., 2013), antioxidant (Pang et al., 2000, Kozarski et al., 2012), prebiotic (Chen et al., 2013, Pallav et al., 2014), antiviral (Collins and Ng, 1997), antidiabetic (Hsu et al., 2013) and immunomodulatory activities (Yang et al., 2015). Polysaccharide Krestin and PSP obtained from CM-101 and Cov-1 strains respectively, are known as biological response modifiers that can complement conventional therapies. The oral administration of these extracts seems to have an effect in controlling the proliferation of certain carcinomas as well as potentiating the immune response by inducing the production of macrophages, T-lymphocytes, interferons and immunoglobulins. Moreover, it has been reported as reducing tumours inducing immunosuppression and these extracts also seem to be beneficial regarding intestinal disorders (Fisher and Yang, 2002, Cui and Chisti, 2003). As for the prebiotic potential, the fact that C. *versicolor's* β -glucans, PSP and PSK, are resistant to the digestive process, means that they are likely to reach the microbiota and may, therefore, exert some type of influence over it. Chen et al. (2013) suggested that PSP promoted the growth of beneficial bacteria (lactobacilli and bifidobacteria) while Pallav et al. (2014) stated that PSP could modulate the gut microbiota. PSK were also reported to have an antioxidant effect (Cruz et al., 2016). Additionally, when it comes to β -glucans, it is important to stand out that more studies are necessary to consider them as established prebiotics.

1.4. Work objectives

The gut microbiota has been reported as playing a vital role in human health and wellbeing, with prebiotics gaining the attention of the scientific community given their ability to modulate it. In parallel, mushrooms have been associated to a wide range of beneficial effects on the human health. However, most studies focus on extract's properties, leaving the biomass unstudied. As such, the objective of this research work was to evaluate the potential prebiotic effect of *Coriolus versicolor* biomass in the human gut microbiota using a human faecal fermentation model. To accomplish this, the mushroom biomass was subjected to a simulated digestive process and then used to evaluate the evolution of specific bacterial groups, while monitoring the formation of SCFA, which are essential to the proper functioning of the large intestine.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sample information

The *C. versicolor* biomass was kindly provided by Mycology Research Laboratories (UK). This biomass was produced using CV-OH1 strain and had an appearance of a medium beige free flowing powder. The product was packed in a white 200 mL opaque container and 1 g silicagel desiccant bag. The sample batch number was 17B13H and the batch size was 450. The ingredients listed were: *C. versicolor* biomass, Microcrystalline Cellulose, Silica and Vegetable Magnesium Sterate. The nutritional information available *per* 100 g of product was: 396 kcal, 6.34 g of proteins, 3.63 g of fat and 84.55 g of carbohydrates.

2.2. In vitro digestion simulation

The digestion's simulation was performed according to Madureira et al. (2005) with some modifications. Initially, 2 g of Coriolus versicolor powder were suspended in 250 mL of tap water, in agreement with the manufacture's indication for daily consumption. In order to simulate mouth digestion (as the samples' pH values were between 5.6 and 6.9 no adjustments were necessary) an α -amylase (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA) solution (117.5 U mg⁻¹) was added to the suspension at a rate of 0.6 mL min-¹ of digestion, to mimic the action of saliva. The sample was incubated for 1 min, at 37 °C with agitation (200 rpm). Afterwards, to mimic stomach conditions, the pH value was adjusted to 2.0 using HCI (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) 1 M and a solution that simulates the gastric juice was added (25 mg mL⁻¹ pepsin, Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA) at a ratio of 0.05 mL mL⁻¹ of sample. The resulting mixture was then incubated (37 °C, 130 rpm) for 60 min. Following this, the pH value was adjusted to 6.0 using NaHCO₃ (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA) 1 M and a solution of pancreatin (2 g L⁻¹; Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA) and bile salts (12 g L⁻¹; Fulka Analytical, Morris Plains, USA) was added at a ratio of 0.25 mL mL⁻¹ of sample. The solutions were then incubated for 120 min at 37 °C at 45 rpm. Finally, intestinal absorption was simulated using a semi permeable dialysis membrane (Biotech Cellulose Ester Dialysis Membranes 100-500 Da; Spectrum Laboratories, Inc, Waltham, USA) that was submerged in distilled water (with constant stirring) for 48 h, with water being replaced after the initial 24 h period. Samples were collected at each point throughout the assay for further characterization and the final content of the dialysis membranes was freeze dried using a Christ freeze dryer (Alpha 1-4, Osterode Am Harz, Germany). The resulting powder was used later for the gut microbiota fermentations. All assays were performed in duplicate. All pH measurements were undertaken using a pH meter equipped with a Hach 52-07 pH electrode (Loveland, USA).

2.3. Protein quantification and characterization

The collected samples were thawed at room temperature and centrifuged at 6026 g, for 15 min. Before analysis, the supernatant was filtered through 0.22 µm filters (Milipore, Darmstadt, Germany). Protein quantification and characterization was performed using a Fast Protein Liquid Chromatography (FPLC) system (AKTA pure GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Chicago, USA), connected to a Superdex[™] 200 Increase 10/300 GL column (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Chicago, USA). The system was operated with a phosphate buffer (pH 7) containing NaCl and NaN₃ at a flow rate of 0.5 mL min⁻¹. The absorbance measurements (280 nm) were carried out in duplicate and the results expressed in Absorbance Units (AU) per volume (mL).

2.4. Free amino acids analysis

2.4.3. Mobile phase and reagent preparation

The chromatographic analysis was carried out using two distinct eluents, A and B. Eluent A consisted of 10 g L⁻¹ sodium phosphate dibasic dihydrate (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA), 7.4 g L⁻¹ propionic acid (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA), 20 mL L⁻¹ dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA), 65 mL L⁻¹ acetonitrile (Fisher Chemical, Waltham, USA) and ultrapure water, with the final pH value being adjusted to 6.65 using NaOH 4 M. Eluent B was composed of 330 mL L⁻¹ methanol (Fisher Chemical, Waltham, USA), 70 mL L⁻¹ DMSO, 400 mL L⁻¹ acetonitrile and ultrapure water. Both eluents were filtered under vacuum and degassed. The reagent A (25 mL) consisted of 3 mL of a previously prepared internal standard solution (20 mg mL⁻¹ of homoserine and norvaline (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA) in 0.1 M HCl), 120 µL mercaptoetanol (Fluka Analytical, St. Louis, Missouri, EUA), 500 mg of sodium tetraphenylborate (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and 25 mL of borate buffer. Reagent B (100 mL) was comprised of 3.5 g of iodoacetic acid (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA), 50 mL of borate buffer, adjusted to a pH value of 9.5 with NaOH 4 M and the volume was completed with borate buffer. Finally, 50 mL of reagent C were prepared by mixing 225 mg of OPA (Phthaldialdehyde) (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA), 5 mL of methanol and completed to 50 mL with borate buffer. Then, 0.5 mL of mercaptoethanol were added and the solution was bubbled with N2.

2.4.2 Chromatographic analysis

The characterization and quantification of the free amino acids was performed using a liquid chromatography apparatus (HPLC Gold 128 Solvent module, Beckman Coulter, Brea, USA) with a High Resolution Fluorescence Detector ($\lambda_{\text{excitation}}$ 356 nm; $\lambda_{\text{emission}}$ 445 nm; Waters 474, Milford, USA) and an autosampler (model 410 Varian prostar, Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, USA). The system was connected to a Chromolith® Performance RP18 (4.6 × 100 mm) (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) column, operating at a flow rate of 0.8 mL min⁻¹. From the filtered samples (prepared as described in section 2.2.), 100 µL were mixed with 250 µL of reagent A, and 250 µL of reagent B. After 3 min, 250 µL of
reagent C were added and 10 μ L of the mixture was injected into the HPLC system. All samples were injected in duplicate.

2.5. In vitro faecal fermentations

2.5.1. Collection and preparation of faecal inocula

Fresh faecal samples were collected from five healthy donors (A-E, three men and two women, ages between 23 to 63 years old), who had fulfill the criteria stablished (**Appendix I** and **II**- Informed consent form and Instructions for stool specimen collection). The faecal samples were maintained under anaerobic conditions, for a maximum of 2 h before being used. The faecal inocula (FI) was then prepared, by diluting the faecal matter in Reduced Physiological Salt solution (RPS) (constituted by 0.5 g L⁻¹ cysteine-HCI (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and 8.5 g L⁻¹ NaCI (LabChem, Zelienople, USA)) with a final pH value of 6.8, at 100 g L⁻¹ in an anaerobic workstation (Don Whitley Scientific, West Yorkshire, UK) (10% CO₂, 5% H₂ and 85% N₂).

2.5.2. Nutrient Base Medium preparation

Nutrient Base Medium was used to carry out the faecal fermentations. The medium was comprised of 5.0 g L⁻¹ trypticase soy broth without dextrose (Fluka Analytical, St. Louis, Missouri, EUA), 5.0 g L⁻¹ bactopeptone (Becton Dickinson Biosciences, New Jersey, USA), 0.5 g L⁻¹ cysteine-HCI (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), 1.0% (v/v) of salt solution A [100.0 g L⁻¹ NH₄CI (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), 10.0 g L⁻¹ MgCl₂·6H₂O (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), 10.0 g L⁻¹ CaCl₂·2H₂O (Carlo Erba, Chaussée du Vexin, France)], 1.0% (v/v) of trace mineral solution (ATCC, Virginia, USA), 0.2% (v/v) of salt solution B [200.0 g L⁻¹ K₂HPO₄·3H₂O (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany)] and 0.2% (v/v) of a 0.5 g L⁻¹ resazurin solution (Sigma-Aldrich Chemistry, St. Louis, USA). The medium final pH value was adjusted to 6.8 and was then bubbled with N₂ until it presented a translucent/yellowish colour. Following this, 50 mL were then distributed into several containers. Fructooligosaccharides (FOS) (Nutripar, Matosinhos, Portugal) and the freeze-dried digested *C. versicolor* biomass were added to the respective vessels at a final concentration of 20 g.L⁻¹. The bottles were capped and autoclaved. Following sterilization, and before adding the faecal inocula, the atmosphere of each flask was refluxed with a gas mixture (10% CO₂, 5% H₂ and 85% N₂) sterilized using a 0.22 µm filter (Millipore, Burlington, USA).

2.5.3 Faecal fermentations

The flasks prepared in 2.4.2. were inoculated at 2% (v/v) with faecal inocula (section 2.4.1) and incubated for 48 h at 37 °C under anaerobic atmosphere (10% CO₂, 5% H₂ and 85% N₂). Samples were collected after 0, 12, 24 and 48 h of incubation and the pH values were measured using a MicropH 2002 pH meter (Crison, Barcelona, Spain), equipped with a 52-07 pH electrode (Crison, Barcelona, Spain). The positive and negative controls were respectively designated as C+ (FOS) and C- (only faecal inocula), while the *C. versicolor* digested biomass was dubbed Cv. Afterwards, the samples were stored at -30 °C until analysis. All the steps considered in this section were carried out inside an anaerobic workstation (Don Whitley Scientific, West Yorkshire, UK).

2.5.4. Faecal fermentation sample's processing

Aliquots (4 mL) of each sample collected in section 2.4.3. were centrifuged for 6 min. The resulting supernatants were used to evaluate organic acid production and the pellet used to extract the genomic DNA.

2.6. Bacterial population analysis

2.6.1. DNA extraction

DNA was extracted using a NZY Tissue gDNA Isolation kit (NZYTech, Lisbon, Portugal) according to the manufacturers' instructions, with some adaptations. Briefly, pellets were washed with TE (pH 8.0; Tris EDTA buffer), vortexed and centrifuged at 4000 g for 10 min, a process that was repeated until the supernatant was colourless. Then, 180 µL of a freshly prepared lysozyme solution (10 mg mL⁻¹lysozyme in a NaCI-EDTA solution; 30 mM NaCI and 10 mM EDTA) were added and incubated for a period of 1 h, at 37 °C, with periodic shaking. Afterwards, 350 µL of NT1- buffer were added to samples which were then vortexed and incubated at 95 °C. After 10 min, samples were centrifuged (11000 g, 10 min, 4 °C), supernatants (200 µL) were mixed with 25 µL of proteinase K, and incubate at 70 °C during 10 min. The remaining steps were performed accordingly to the manufacturer's instructions (**Annex I -** NZY tissue gDNA isolation kit). After extraction, DNA's purity and concentration were assessed using a Thermo Scientific[™] µDrop[™] Plate coupled with a Thermo Scientific[™] Multiskan[™] FC Microplate Photometer (Thermo Fisher Scientifc, Waltham, USA).

2.6.2. Real Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

Real-time PCR was performed using a CFX96 Touch[™] Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, USA), under the conditions described in Table 2.1.

PCR stage	Temperature	Time	Number of Cycles
Initial denaturation/ enzyme activation	95 °C	10 min	
Denaturation	95 °C	10 s	45
Annealing	Specific temperature for each primer	1 min	
Extension *	72 °C	15 s	
Melting curve*	60-97 °C, with an increment of 0.5 °C for 0.05 min	0.05 s	

Table 2.1. Real-time PCR conditions

*Stages in which fluorescence is measured

The PCR reaction mixture comprised of 5 μ L of 2x iQTM SYBR® Green Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, USA), 2 μ L of ultrapure water, 1 μ L of sample DNA (equilibrated to 20 ng μ L⁻¹) and 1 μ L of forward and reverse primers (100 nM) targeting the 16S rRNA gene. The primers used were obtained from STABvida (Lisbon, Portugal) and are listed in **Table 2.2.**. Standard curves were constructed using tenfold dilutions (from 2 log to 6 log of number of copies of 16S rRNA gene μ L⁻¹) of bacterial genomic DNA standards (DSMZ, Braunschweig, Germany) (**Table 2.2.**) and were drawn using the number of copies of the 16S rRNA gene of each bacterial strain in the relation to the quantification cycles (Cq) (**Appendix III-** Bacterial calibration curves for qPCR). Melting curve analysis was performed for each PCR in order to evaluate the specificity of the amplification, considering a temperature interval from 60 to 97 °C. All assays were performed in quadruplicate.

Table 2.2. Primer sequences targeting bacterial groups, genomic DNA standards and PCR product size. Adapted from Marques et al. (2016).

Target group	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Genomic DNA standard	PCR Product size	Annealing temperatures (ºC)	References
Firmicutes	F ATG TGG TTT AAT TCG AAG CA R AGC TGA CGA CAA CCA TGC AC	Lactobacillus gasseri ATCC 33323	126	45	Queipo- Ortuno <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Bacteroidetes	F CAT GTG GTT TAA TTC GAT GAT R AGC TGA CGA CAA CCA TGC AG	Bacteroides vulgatus ATCC 8482	126	45	Queipo- Ortuno <i>et al.</i> (2013)
Bacteroides	F ATA GCC TTT CGA AAG RAA GAT R CCA GTA TCA ACT GCA ATT TTA	Bacteroides vulgatus ATCC 8482	495	45	Matsuki <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Clostridium leptum subgroup	F GCA CAA GCA GTG GAG T R CTT CCT CCG TTT TGT CAA	Clostridium Ieptum	239	45	Matsuki <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Lactobacillus	F GAG GCA GCA GTA GGG AAT CTT C R GGC CAG TTA CTA CCT CTA TCC TTC TTC	Lactobacillus gasseri ATCC 33323	126	55	Delroisse <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (2008)
Bifidobacterium	F CGC GTC YGG TGT GAA AG R CCC CAC ATC CAG CAT CCA	Bifidobacterium longum subsp. Infantis ATCC 15697	244	50	Delroisse et al. (2008)

F- forward primer; R- reverse primer

2.7. Sugars and SCFA analysis

Sugar consumption and organic acid production during faecal fermentation were analysed using an HPLC system comprised of a Knauer K-1001 pump (Berlin, Germany), an ion exchange Aminex HPX-87H ($300 \times 7.8 \text{ mm}$) (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA) column and two detectors assembled in series, namely a UV-vis detector (220 nm) and a refractive index detector, both from Knauer (Berlin, Germany) at a temperature of 65 °C. An isocratic gradient was used (13 mM sulfuric acid; Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), at a flow rate of 0.6 mL min⁻¹. The injection volume was of 40 µL and the running time was 30 min. Fermentation supernatants were filtered through a 0.22 µm syringe filter and each sample was injected in duplicate.

2.8. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the data was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics v21.0 (IBM, Chicago, USA). The normality of the data's distribution was evaluated through Shapiro-Wilk's test. As the data proved to follow a normal distribution, One-way ANOVA, coupled with Tukey's post hoc test was used to determine the significance of *C. versicolor* biomass' effect on bacterial populations, at each time point. Repeated Measures ANOVA was used to evaluate the effect of *C. versicolor* biomass on the bacterial population trough time. Differences were considered significant for p-values ≤ 0.05 .

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Simulation of the gastrointestinal tract conditions

A simulation of the digestive process was performed several times in order to achieve the mass needed for the faecal fermentations. In order to get a better insight on the impact of the digestive process on the sample, a FPLC analysis was performed to characterize the protein content. In **Figure 3.1.** it is possible to observe the FPLC profiles of the samples collected after each digestion step, in which 5 different sets of peaks were identified.



Figure 3.1. FPLC profile of C. versicolor biomass throughout the digestion simulation.— Initial sample;— Mouth digestion;— Stomach digestion;— Intestinal digestion;— After dialysis.

Overall, it was possible to observe that there was an increase in the prevalence of low molecular weight fragments throughout the digestive process, which indicates a proteolytic effect of the enzymatic solutions added upon the sample in the different GI tract compartments. The initial sample and the one collected after mouth digestion exhibited similar profiles regarding the lower molecular weight fractions, which could be expected since only α -amylase was added. Moreover, the profiles after intestine simulation and after dialysis were also very similar, which could also be expected, since no proteolytic enzymatic solutions were added between these steps. However, in the initial sample two distinct peaks of 44 and 29 kDa (Figure 3.1. 2) were observed. After stomach digestion, a peak of ca. 72 kDa (Figure **3.1.** 1), not present in the other samples, was observed along with several other peaks which correspond to fragments with a molecular weight lower than 1.2 kDa that may be the result of the proteolytic activity of pepsin. After intestinal digestion and after dialysis only fragments smaller than 1.2 kDa were detected (**Figure 3.1.** 3 to 5). The product information sheets provided by the supplier reports that α -amylase has a molecular mass between 58 and 62 kDa, pepsin mass is approximately 35 kDa, and tripsin has a molecular mass of 23.3 kDa, so, none of the enzymatic solutions added corresponds to the 72 kDa peak observed. The salivary α -amylase present in mouth digestion is known for having an optimal pH of 6.8 and it is thought to be denaturated when it reaches the stomach due to the acidic environment (Minekus et al., 2014, Alpers, 2003). Additionally, Yadav and Prakash (2011) reported an optimal *a*-amylase activity within the pH range of 4.7 to 7 and reported a decrease in the enzymatic activity bellow 4.7. The authors also reported a gradual protein unfolding, as a consequence of the acidic stomach environment, along with a process of protein aggregation. So, it can be hypothesized that the 72 kDa peak observed may be a result of α -amylase aggregation. Cruz (2015) also performed a FPLC analysis of C. versicolor biomass and the sample exhibited the same profile throughout digestion and had a peak between 12 and 22 kDa. These results are not in line with the present results, since a distinct profile was observed through digestion and the initial sample had 44 and 29 kDa peaks and a 72 kDa peak after stomach simulation. It can be hypothesized that the differences between these protein profiles of the same mushroom biomass can be due to differences in the mushroom composition.

Mushrooms have been reported to have a low caloric, sodium and fat contents while being rich in protein, carbohydrates, fibres, vitamins, minerals (*e.g.* Mg, K, Zn, Cu), and unsaturated fatty acids (Cruz *et al.*, 2016, Aida *et al.*, 2009, Stachowiak and Reguła, 2012). Moreover, edible mushrooms possess several proteins, among which are several enzymes, with an interesting bioactive potential like lectins, laccases, ribosome inactivating proteins, peroxidases, ribonucleases, *etc* (Xu *et al.*, 2011). Rau *et al.* (2009) reported that, fruiting bodies' extracts of *C. versicolor*, possess three different protein fractions, 1200, 150 and 15 kDa, with the last being the richest in terms of overall protein content. These protein fractions were not observed in the FPLC analysis of *C. versicolor* biomass as the range of the calibration curve was between 66 and 1 kDa, so it was not possible to verify the existence of 1200 and 150 kDa fragments. Additionally, the protein fractions above mentioned were determined using mushrooms extracts and not biomass. Moreover, it is difficult to establish any comparisons between what has been reported in literature and those observed in the present work focused on the soluble fractions. Regardless, Singh *et al.* (2014) stated that lectins from edible mushrooms ranged from 12 to 68 kDa and Johansson and

Nyman (1993) isolated a manganese (III) peroxidase with 44 kDa, which correspond to molecular weights that are among those observed in **Figure 3.1**.

To further characterize the impact of the digestive process upon the protein fraction of the sample, the free amino acids' profile was characterized in order to understand if the proteolysis, consequential of the digestion simulation, resulted in a progressive release of amino acids. As can be seen in Table 3.1., there was an increase in the number of identified amino acids throughout the digestion, particularly between stomach and intestinal simulation. When comparing the initial sample with those after mouth and stomach simulation no consistent trend was observed regarding the amino acids' concentration, however when comparing the sample after intestinal digestion and dialysis there was an overall decrease in amino acid concentration which demonstrated their diffusion throughout the membrane. Some authors reported that C. versicolor has 18 different amino acids (most of them being acidic or neutral) such as aspartate, glutamate, glycine, serine, threonine, alanine, valine and leucine (Cruz et al., 2016, Cui and Chisti, 2003). This stands in line with the results observed for the initial sample as the most abundant amino acids were those previously mentioned except threonine which was detected but not at quantifiable levels. Overall, as the digestion simulation progressed (up until after intestine simulation), the concentrations of other amino acids, such as arginine, tyrosine, phenylalanine and isoleucine, increased which is a likely consequence of the action of the proteolytic enzymes upon the C. versicolor biomass.

Amino opido	mg g ⁻¹ Sample								
Amino acius	Initial	Mouth digestion	Stomach digestion	Intestinal digestion	After Dialysis				
Asp	0.297 ± 0.186	0.185 ± 0.048	0.359 ± 0.092	3.050 ± 0.331	2.631 ± 0.465				
Glu	0.214 ± 0.008	0.225 ± 0.056	0.479 ± 0.064	6.461 ± 0.390	5.499 ± 0.264				
Cys	nd	nd	nq	0.803 ± 0.543	0.199 ± 0.190				
Asn	nq	nq	nq	3.453 ± 0.892	2.454 ± 0.936				
Ser	0.357 ± 0.340	nq	0.125 ± 0.018	3.882 ± 0.410	3.369 ± 0.524				
His	nd	nd	nd	1.847 ± 0.590	1.920 ± 0.484				
Gln	0.412 ± 0.068	0.420 ± 0.092	0.254 ± 0.012	6.489 ± 2.493	4.259 ± 0.242				
Thr	nq	nq	nq	3.726 ± 0.348	3.051 ± 0.363				
Arg	0.097 ± 0.067	nd	0.298 ± 0.039	11.107 ± 2.231	8.049 ± 1.720				
Ala	0.117 ± 0.011	0.146 ± 0.023	0.097 ± 0.085	4.225 ± 0.242	3.730 ± 0.892				
Tyr	0.198 ± 0.083	nq	0.159 ± 0.045	6.564 ± 1.441	4.767 ± 0.418				
Val	0.122 ± 0.007	0.149 ± 0.022	nq	5.530 ± 1.109	4.067 ± 3.770				
Met	nd	nd nq		0.660 ± 0.190	0.676 ± 0.151				
Тгр	nd	nd	nd	1.267 ± 0.046	1.084 ± 0.282				
Phe	0.115 ± 0.007	0.090 ± 0.010	0.254 ± 0.045	4.923 ± 0.438	3.495 ± 0.813				
lle	0.065 ± 0.011	0.089 ± 0.002	nq	4.145 ± 1.093	3.334 ± 0.321				
Leu	0.125 ± 0.015	0.142 ± 0.026	0.177 ± 0.017	6.233 ± 0.125	5.491 ± 1.010				

Table 3.1. Amino acid identification and quantification of the samples collected initially and throughout digestion. Each sample was injected in duplicate.

Asp- Aspartate; Glu- Glutamate; Cys- Cysteine; Asn- Asparagine; Ser- Serine; His- Histidine; Gln- Glutamine; Thr- Threonine; Arg- Arginine; Ala- Alanine; Tyr- Tyrosine, Val- Valine; Met- Methionine; Trp- Tryptophan; Phe- Phenylalanine; Ile- Isoleucine; Leu- Leucine;

nd- not detected; nq- detected but bellow the quantification limit;

3.2. Impact of *Coriolus versicolor* biomass on gut microbiota

3.2.1. Microbial population modulation

In order to assess the potential prebiotic effect of C. versicolor biomass, a simulation of gut microbiota fermentation was performed through an *in vitro* fermentation model, using faeces from five donors. The participants were selected according to a set of criteria regarding the diet followed, age, health status, food intolerances or allergies, absence of prebiotic's, probiotic's or antibiotic's consumption in the last 6 months and household/family relations. These factors are widely acknowledged as having a significant impact upon the gut microbiota composition. For instance, Zimmer et al. (2012) compared the diet of vegans and vegetarians with individuals that followed a typical western diet and concluded that the microbiota was distinct in both groups, and the faecal pH values were more acidic in the vegetarians and vegans than the group that followed an omnivore diet. Additionally, as previously mentioned, there are several studies comparing the microbiota of African individuals with European or US American groups. It was noted an increase in Prevotella, and in some cases, in Bacteroidetes' population in the individuals who followed a fibre based diet (De Filippo et al., 2010, Ou et al., 2013, Schnorr et al., 2014). As such, it was important to select donors with a similar diet, or at least that did not follow a restricted food regime, like vegetarianism. The age factor was also taken into consideration in the selection process, in which it was established that the participants should not be older than 65 years old. The microbiota composition changes with age, and as such the bacterial population of the elderly is distinct from the one of an adult. For example, Claesson et al. (2011) reported a shift in the gut microbiota among individuals over 65 years old. In another study regarding the microbiota of older individuals, an increase in the abundance of Bacteroidetes and in Clostridium cluster IV was also reported (Thursby and Juge, 2017). Moreover, Odamaki et al. (2016) observed some patterns and transition points in the bacterial populations with age, in particular, a high abundance of Bacteroidetes in the elderly cluster. Other studies also report an overall reduction in bacterial diversity and similarities between the elderly and infants regarding some phyla. Additionally, another criterion of the participants was to be healthy. It has been suggested that several diseases may have a link with an altered structure of the gut bacterial community, although is not fully understood if it is a relation of consequence or causality (Buttó and Haller, 2016). Wang et al. (2017) reviewed some of the major human diseases that are thought to be linked to gut microbiota, which range from infectious, liver, metabolic and autoimmune diseases, to GI cancers, among others. Previously, Hur and Lee (2015) also affirmed the role of the gut microbiota as modulator of lipidemia, insulin signaling, inflammation and food intake. Considering this, it was important for the faecal donors to not present any health condition since some diseases could influence the structure of the gut microbial community. It was also determined as a specific criterion for the participants to not have any known food intolerances or allergies, since it has been hypothesized that one of the underlying causes for this problem may be related to the microbial community in the gut. The most common intolerances are related to impairments in the digestion and intestinal absorption of carbohydrates, often due to a lack of luminal or mucosal enzymes but also because of the bacterial overgrowth or even bacterial translocation to the small intestine (Zopf et al., 2009, Gigante et al., 2011). Another important requirement stablished was the guarantee that the participants' microbiota had not been

influenced by the consumption of prebiotics, probiotics or antibiotics in the previous 6 months. As previously said, prebiotics and probiotics have the ability to beneficially modulate the gut microbiota, in opposition to antibiotics which have been suggested to induce dysbiosis and to have prolonged effect (Million *et al.*, 2013, Conlon and Bird, 2015). Finally, it was also determined that the participants should not belong to the same household. Although the microbiota of an individual displays an unique profile, it is also accepted that is more similar within the same family than with unrelated individuals (Schloss *et al.*, 2014). For instance, Song *et al.* (2013) reported that household members, in particular couples, had a more similar microbiota when in comparison to individuals from outside the household. As so, it was important for the donors to be from distinct families to better mimic the differences in a broader population.

As can be seen in **Table 3.2.**, Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides and *Clostridium leptum* presented no significant differences (p > 0.05) between the controls and the Cv regardless of the time point while for *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* groups some significant differences (p < 0.05) were observed. Concerning the levels of *Lactobacillus* there was an increase in C+ after 48 h. For *Bifidobacterium*, at 12, 24 and 48 h, C+ consistently presented the higher (p < 0.05) 16S rRNA copies than C-, and Cv exhibited significantly higher values (p < 0.05) than C-. The significantly higher levels of *Bifidobacterium* (at 24 and 48 h) observed in the presence of Cv, hint at a consistent bifidogenic effect, as this trend was significant when considering the results for all faecal donors. This tendency followed the behaviour observed for C+ (FOS) which is a recognized prebiotic known for the ability to stimulate *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* proliferation (Mendlik *et al.*, 2012, Rossi *et al.*, 2005). A visual representation of the overall variation and fluctuations of the bacterial groups in each condition through time can be seen in **Figure 3.2.** The total values were considered taking into account the bacterial groups tested in the current work.



Figure 3.2. Overall variation of the distinct bacterial groups. (A) Negative Control; (B) Positive Control; (C) C. versicolor digested biomass.
Firmicutes;
Bacteroidetes;
Bacteroides;
C. leptum;
Lactobacillus;
Bifidobacterium

log 16S rRNA gene copies/ng of DNA								
Time	Condition	Firmicute	s Ba	cteroidetes	Bacteroides	C. leptum	Lactobacillus	Bifidobacterium
0 h	C-	0.443 ± 0.0	21 ^a 0.312	2 ± 0.025	^a 0.303 ± 0.021	^a 0.326 ± 0.021	^a 0.154 ± 0.030 ^a	0.221 ± 0.019 ^a
	C+	0.443 ± 0.0	21 ª 0.312	2 ± 0.025	^a 0.295 ± 0.021	^a 0.326 ± 0.021	^a 0.154 ± 0.030 ^a	0.221 ± 0.019 ª
	Cv	0.443 ± 0.0	21 ^a 0.312	2 ± 0.025	^a 0.295 ± 0.021	^a 0.326 ± 0.021	^a 0.154 ± 0.030 ^a	0.221 ± 0.019 ^a
12 h	C-	0.408 ± 0.0	23 ª 0.29	5 ± 0.014	^a 0.301 ± 0.008	^a 0.315 ± 0.017	^a 0.143 ± 0.034 ^a	0.219 ± 0.013 ^a
	C+	0.386 ± 0.0	31 ^a 0.273	3 ± 0.020	^a 0.273 ± 0.016	^a 0.289 ± 0.024	^a 0.171 \pm 0.037 ^a	0.271 ± 0.024 ^b
	Cv	0.376 ± 0.0	19 ª 0.353	5 ± 0.106	^a 0.345 ± 0.083	^a 0.328 ± 0.119	^a 0.135 ± 0.033 ^a	0.241 ± 0.018 ^{a,b}
	C-	0.405 ± 0.0	20 ª 0.279) ± 0.028	^a 0.283 ± 0.019	^a 0.294 ± 0.011	^a 0.134 ± 0.026 ^a	0.203 ± 0.017 ª
24 h	C+	0.385 ± 0.0	31 ª 0.269) ± 0.023	^a 0.267 ± 0.021	^a 0.277 ± 0.022	^b 0.168 ± 0.040 ^a	0.282 ± 0.011 ^b
	Cv	0.359 ± 0.0	26 ^a 0.279) ± 0.045	^a 0.274 ± 0.044	^a 0.253 ± 0.029 ^a	^{a,b} 0.154 ± 0.012 ^a	0.238 ± 0.008 ^c
48 h	C-	0.434 ± 0.0	17 ª 0.30	5 ± 0.008	^a 0.302 ± 0.017	^a 0.302 ± 0.008	^a 0.145 ± 0.015 ^a	0.212 ± 0.016 ^a
	C+	0.392 ± 0.0	13 ª 0.278	5 ± 0.017	^a 0.269 ± 0.030	^a 0.274 ± 0.024	^a 0.212 ± 0.056 ^b	0.301 ± 0.027 ^b
	Cv	0.399 ± 0.0	26 ª 0.283	3 ± 0.059	^a 0.267 ± 0.057	^a 0.278 ± 0.028	^a 0.146 ± 0.017 ^a	0.268 ± 0.011 ^c

Table 3.2. Overall variation, considering the 5 different donors, of the distinct bacterial groups (mean ± standard deviation).

Letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between the controls and the *C. versicolor* digested biomass, at each sampling time. C-, negative control; C+, positive control (FOS); Cv, *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass.

While to the best of our knowledge no research work has described the impact of C. versicolor biomass upon these particular groups, several authors studied the effect of FOS or other mushroom species extracts on the gut microbiota, focusing on certain bacterial groups. For instance, Liu et al. (2017) tested the effect of different prebiotics using the faeces of 36 donors, and concluded that the prebiotics had a bifidogenic effect in all participants, except for three. Nevertheless, it was also observed that, regarding other bacterial groups, there was a high interpersonal variability in the response to prebiotics. This stands in line with the results of the present work since the inter donor variability did not allow to draw any conclusions regarding the effect of C. versicolor biomass in the bacterial groups studied, or even compare it to FOS, except for Bifidobacterium. Xu and Zhang (2015) analyzed the effect of the ingestion of a Lentinula edodes derived polysaccharide on mice gut microbiota and reported an intense response from bacteria belonging to Bacteroidetes. Regardless of the differences between this study and the present work, this was not in accordance with the results presented above, as no differences in the Bacteroidetes population were observed between sample and controls. Rodrigues et al. (2016) tested the influence of an extract of mushroom Pholiota nameko on the gut microbiota of three donors, through a 24 h in vitro faecal fermentations. It was reported that the extract had an effect on the gut microbiota, namely, there was an increase in Bifidobacterium in comparison to the negative control, but no significant changes were observed in Lactobacillus population. Additionally, Bacteroides population was increased, comparing to negative control and FOS. These results are in part in accordance to the present results, since, at 24 h, C. versicolor also stimulated Bifidobacterium population and no changes were observed in terms of Lactobacillus population, although Bacteroidetes population exhibited no changes in response to Cv sample or in the controls. Nevertheless, Yu et al. (2013) evaluated the effect of PSP, a polysaccharide extracted from C. versicolor, performing in vitro fermentations using faeces from 8 donors. Once again, there was a consistent bifidogenic effect in addition to an increase in Lactobacillus community, in response to PSP. Yet, no differences between controls or PSP regarding the Bacteroides community were observed. This is partially in accordance with the results presented, because Cv also exhibited a bifidogenic effect, and no differences were observed regarding Bacteroides population, although Cv did not promote the growth of Lactobacillus, as it would be expected.

It is widely accepted that the microbiota profile is specific for each individual and it is the result of an array of different factors such as gender (Mueller *et al.*, 2006), age (Claesson *et al.*, 2012, Claesson *et al.*, 2011, Mariat *et al.*, 2009), diet or geographic location (De Filippo *et al.*, 2010, Flint *et al.*, 2015, Thursby and Juge, 2017), as previously mentioned. As the donor's set used in the present work included both men and women of different ages, the establishment of an overall effect of *C. versicolor* may be a complex subject if taking into account the unique microbial profile of each participant, and the fact that the results obtained displayed considerably different behaviors between donors. As such, in an attempt to better understand the underlying variations, a donor-by-donor analysis of the results was also carried out.



Figure 3.3. Variation of microbiota composition in donor A. Values presented as log 16S rRNA gene copies/ng of DNA through time, with standard deviation error bars. \bullet C-, negative control; \bullet C+, positive control; \bullet Cv, C. versicolor.

For donor A (**Figure 3.3**.) it can be observed that for Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides and *C. leptum* the samples with *C. versicolor* digested biomass exhibited lowest values of 16S rRNA copies, with the overall values being similar to the negative control or even lower (**Appendix IV**- Real time PCR results and statistical analysis). In Cv, Bacteroides exhibited a slight peak at 12 h, followed by a decrease until the end of the fermentation, while the number of gene copies for Bacteroidetes decreased until 24 h, and then increased at 48 h. For *Lactobacillus*, at 12 h, both Cv and C- displayed similar levels (p > 0.05). However, after 24 h, the Cv sample, exhibited *Lactobacillus* levels that were higher than C+. Finally, after 48 h of fermentation, there was a decrease in Cv, exhibiting values lower than C- and C+ (p < 0.05). Concerning the levels of *Bifidobacterium*, the overall values were higher than those observed for *Lactobacillus*, with a clear trend being observed after the 12 h mark in which Cv exhibited higher values than C- (p < 0.05) but lower than C+ (p < 0.05).

In donor A, the abundance of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes was in accordance with reports which describe the gut microbiota essentially as a two phyla system, with Firmicutes constituting 50% to 80% of gut microbial composition, followed by Bacteroidetes (Clemente et al., 2012, Rajilić-Stojanović and de Vos, 2014). Bifidobacterium levels were less abundant than Firmicutes and slightly lower than Bacteroidetes. This is in accordance with literature since Actinobacteria (which is mainly comprised of Bifidobacterium) is reported as the third most abundant phylum (up to 10%) (Rodríguez et al., 2015, Rajilić-Stojanović and de Vos, 2014). Concerning the Lactobacillus' content, it can be seen that it is less abundant than Firmicutes, which could be expected as lactobacilli are only one of the members of this phylum that may be found in the gut. The C. leptum levels' observed were lower than Firmicutes, which is also in agreement with the work of Lay et al. (2005) and Kabeerdoss et al. (2013), who reported that C. leptum (which also belongs to Firmicutes' phylum) constitutes 16-25% of gut microbiota. This targeted group belongs to the genus Clostridium which is grouped in 19 clusters, and is generally named as Clostridium leptum, or Clostridium cluster IV. Thus, the relative abundance of this subgroup could be expected, particularly as it is a relevant and highly abundant population present in the GI tract, encompassing important species like Faecalibacterium prauznitzii and Eubacterium and Ruminococcus's species whose importance has been increasingly acknowledged (Mao et al., 2015, Matsuki et al., 2004).



Figure 3.4. Variation of microbiota composition in donor B. Values presented as log 16S rRNA gene copies/ng of DNA through time, with standard deviation error bars. \bullet C-, negative control; \bullet C+, positive control; \bullet Cv, C. versicolor.



Figure 3.5. Variation of microbiota composition in donor C. Values presented as log 16S rRNA gene copies/ng of DNA through time, with standard deviation error bars. \bullet C-, negative control; \bullet C+, positive control; \bullet Cv, C. versicolor.

In what concerns donor B (**Figure 3.4.**) Cv exhibited different effects upon the bacterial groups of the microbiota, sometimes resembling C- and in others C+ (**Appendix IV-** Real time PCR results and statistical analysis). For Firmicutes, Cv followed the trend of C+, even assuming equal values at 24 h (p > 0.05). In Bacteroidetes and Bacteroides, Cv presented the higher levels of gene copies, with C+ registering the lowest values (p < 0.05). In opposition, Cv exhibited the lowest values of *C. leptum*, followed by the C+ and C- (p < 0.05). Regarding the levels of *Lactobacillus* there were no significant variations in the presence of Cv throughout the assay. In fact, after 24 h of fermentation, Cv exhibited similar values to C- (p > 0.05). On the other hand, for *Bifidobacterium*, Cv exhibited higher levels of 16S rRNA than C- (p < 0.05), although they remained lower than those observed for C+. Considering the relative abundance of each bacterial group, similarly to what was observed for donor A, it is in accordance with the general proportions found in literature.

In **Figure 3.5.**, regarding donor C, there were significant differences between controls and the studied sample, in each time point (**Appendix IV-** Real time PCR results and statistical analysis). In terms of Firmicutes levels', Cv exhibited a similar behaviour to C+, from 0 h to 24 h (p > 0.05), although assuming both the lowest values. After 48 h, there was an inversion of this trend, and Cv assumed a similar value to C- (p > 0.05). As for Bacteroidetes, there were little to no differences found between Cv and the controls throughout the assay, while for Bacteroides, Cv resulted in the lowest levels of 16S rRNA (p < 0.05), while C- resulted in the highest. *Clostridium leptum*'s bacterial community decreased from 0 to 12 h and then increased until 48 h, reaching higher levels in the presence of Cv, than both controls (p < 0.05). For *Lactobacillus* no differences were observed from 0 to 24 h (p > 0.05). However, after 48 h Cv exhibited significant higher levels of gene copies than C+ (p < 0.05). Regarding *Bifidobacterium* levels, once again, Cv exhibited significantly higher (p < 0.05) values of gene copies than C-, although significantly lower than C+ (p < 0.05). The general proportions of the studied bacterial groups were in accordance with other donors, as well as with the literature, as previously mentioned.



Figure 3.6. Variation of microbiota composition in donor D. Values presented as log 16S rRNA gene copies/ ng of DNA through time, with standard deviation error bars; \bullet C-, negative control; \bullet C+, positive control; \bullet Cv, C. versicolor.



Figure 3.7. Variation of microbiota composition in donor E. Values presented as log 16S rRNA gene copies/ng of DNA through time, with standard deviation error bars. • C-, negative control; • C+, positive control; • Cv, C. versicolor.

In donor D (**Figure 3.6.**), it was possible to observe that, concerning Firmicutes' levels, Cv assumed a similar behaviour to C+, although with significantly lower values (p < 0.05). When analysing Bacteroidetes and Bacteroides levels, the sample did not follow the behaviour of either C+ or C-, reaching a peak at 24 h and exhibiting the highest values (p < 0.05). As for *C. leptum* bacterial community, Cv exhibited a parallel trend to C+ but both with statistically significant lower levels of copy numbers (p < 0.05), than the C-. After that, it was observed an increase until 48 h, reaching closer values to C-. The sample showed the same behaviour as C-, in terms of *Lactobacillus* levels (p > 0.05) throughout the assay. Finally, regarding *Bifidobacterium*, as for the other donors, Cv displayed values between C- and C+, although the levels were closer to those of C-, and displaying an increase from 24 to 48 h, assuming values similar to C+. Once again, the overall relative abundance was in accordance with the previous donors and literature.

Finally, regarding donor E (Figure 3.7.) there is an apparent abnormality for values corresponding to the presence of Cv samples at the 12 h sample point. These values increased significantly, falling considerably outside the limits registered for the controls, as well as the values observed for other donors and the overall data collected. A possible explanation for this behaviour may reside in the DNA extraction procedure, particularly as a lower extraction yield was attained for this sample. Nevertheless, considering only the 0, 24 and 48 h results, some observations could still be made. Firmicutes population, did not respond to FOS (C+) since the values were similar to those observed for C- (p > 0.05), while the presence of C. versicolor resulted in the lowest values observed for this group (p < 0.05). Similarly, C. versicolor's sample presented the lowest levels of Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides and C. leptum bacterial communities, followed by the C+. However, when considering their variation during the assay a significant (p < 0.05) increase in Bacteroidetes community was observed for Cv from 24 to 48 h, while the C. leptum's community levels did not oscillate (p > 0.05). As for the Lactobacillus' bacterial population, there were little differences in behaviour between Cv and the controls. After 12 h, Cv was similar to C+ (p > 0.05), with the levels dropping after 24 h (reaching the lowest value) and, after 48 h, it exhibited similar values to those of C- (p > 0.05). Overall, Lactobacillus levels decreased significantly (p < 0.05) from 0 to 24 h in the presence of Cv and remained stable (p > 0.05) from 24 to 48 h. Finally, the *Bifidobacterium* levels' were in accordance with the results previously described for other donors, with the exception being at the 12 h mark where Cv values were higher than C+ (p < 0.05) and at 48 h, when Cv reached similar values to C+ (p > 0.05).

Bifidobacterium is one the traditional targets for prebiotic to act upon, although other bacterial groups have also proven to benefit from the presence of prebiotic compounds (Cammarota *et al.*, 2014). When considering the overall effect of *C. versicolor* supplementation, it can be seen that, in spite of the intrinsic donor variability, there was a consistent bifidogenic effect even if the *Bifidobacterium* levels did not match those observed in the presence of FOS. This stands in accordance with the research studies carried out by Cruz (2015) who reported a positive effect of the same *C. versicolor* biomass on *B. animalis* Bo and *B. longum* BG3 *in vitro* growth. Additionally, Yu *et al.* (2013), performed faecal fermentations supplemented with PSP extract and evaluated the microbial community through qPCR.

The PSP extract supplementation led to higher values of *Bifidobacterium* than the negative control, but lower than the FOS samples, which is in accordance with the above presented results. Nevertheless, this study used an isolated polysaccharide, which is distinct from the whole mushroom biomass. To the best of our knowledge no publications have reported a similar study performed using C. versicolor biomass. As referenced before, Rodrigues et al. (2016) fermented another mushroom specie (P. nameko) and also reported a stimulatory effect when compared to the negative control. When analyzing the donor's results, it can be seen that donor B, D and E responded better to the supplementation with C. versicolor digested biomass, exhibiting higher levels of Bifidobacterium than donors A and C. As Roberfroid et al. (1998) stated, a daily dose of a prebiotic per si does not necessarily translate into a de facto prebiotic effect. In fact, the extension of a bifidogenic effect is highly dependent of the overall microbiota composition before prebiotic ingestion, namely on the presence of Bifidobacteria in the original microbiota composition, which may explain why some donors exhibited a more pronounced bifidogenic effect than others. This hypothesis may explain the differences observed between the donors' responses to C. versicolor supplementation. In parallel, the different response to FOS and C. versicolor may be explained by the nature of these ingredients, as Holscher (2017) and Scott et al. (2013) stated that the polysaccharide chain length, its degree of polymerization and the fibre's branching influences the ability of bacteria metabolizing them. Bifidobacterium is among the earliest colonizers of the human GI tract and has been regarded as one of the most important bacterial groups. In fact, as the human host provides non-digestible carbohydrates to be metabolized by these bacteria, Bifidobacterium produce several potentially beneficial metabolites (Turroni et al., 2014, Meyer and Stasse-Wolthuis, 2009, Russell et al., 2011). Moreover, they have been associated with several health benefits such as the improvement of lactose digestion, anti-carcinogenic ability, cholesterol reduction, immunostimulatory potential and reduction of the risk of colonization by potentially pathogenic bacteria (Russell et al., 2011, Rizzardini *et al.*, 2011, Kamada *et al.*, 2013a).

Overall, the levels of Lactobacillus displayed an inconsistent behaviour between donors. Donor D was the only case in which controls exhibited a similar trend to the one observed for *Bifidobacterium*, but revealing an identical behaviour between the C. versicolor biomass and the negative control. Cruz (2015), reported that while L. paracasei L26 was capable of growing, in vitro, when supplemented with C. versicolor biomass, L. acidophilus L10 was not. In fact, even FOS supplementation, an acknowledged prebiotic, did not result in a stimulation of the growth of L. acidophilus L10. This suggests that prebiotics, as selectively fermented ingredients may be used by certain species and not by others, suggesting that variations in species' composition, even within the same genera, may result in different susceptibilities for prebiotic action. On the other hand, Yu et al. (2013) reported higher levels of Lactobacillus in PSP supplemented samples, than those registered in fermentations with FOS. One possible explanation for this difference may be, as previously mentioned, due to the intra-genera variability regarding the capacity to metabolize carbon sources and the intrinsic donor variability concerning Lactobacillus species. Another possible explanation lies on a potential bias introduced by the DNA extraction procedure which may, in turn, affect the qPCR outcome. This is particularly concerning because Lactobacillus possess a cell wall structure that protects them from damage and rupture (namely because of the high peptidoglycan concentration). Therefore hampers DNA extraction with some authors

reporting that cell lysis using lysozyme bears some difficulties although the current work aimed at circumvent this issue through a combination of thermic, mechanic and enzymatic methods (Alimolaei and Golchin, 2016, Atashpaz *et al.*, 2010).

Regarding *C. leptum*, in most cases, C+ and Cv presented lower levels than C-. Overall, the bacteria included in this group (such as *Eubacterium*, *Ruminococcus*, or *Faecalibacterium prauznitzii*) have been highly associated with the production of butyrate and, therefore, may play an important role in the host's health, as previously mentioned in section 1.1.2.1. (Kabeerdoss *et al.*, 2013, Saunier *et al.*, 2005). When considering the results observed in the presence of FOS *and C. versicolor* biomass it can be hypothesized that the substrate available was not the ideal for these bacteria, which have been reported to prefer resistant starch for their butyrogenic metabolism (Pryde *et al.*, 2002, Flint, 2012). Additionally, Liu *et al.* (2017) stated that regardless of the bifidogenic effect exerted by FOS, it also had an adverse effect on the glucose metabolism by butyrogenic bacteria, some of which belong to *Clostridium leptum* subgroup. In parallel, Mao *et al.* (2015) only reported alterations in *Clostridium* population when mice were subjected to a diet with high concentration of FOS (25%), but no changes were reported when submitted to a low concentration (5%) and hypothesized that only some bacterial species within this subgroup are able to metabolize FOS.

Overall Firmicutes' levels in Cv and C+ were lower than C- (with the exception of donor A), which stands in line with the results of Everard et al. (2011) and Parnell and Reimer (2011) who reported that prebiotic ingestion by rats both lean and obese as well as obese mice resulted in a decrease of Firmicutes' levels. On the other hand, Dewulf et al. (2012) reported that, in a study with obese women, Firmicutes levels' increased after supplementation with inulin type fructans, an effect that the authors associated with an increase of the Clostridium clusters IV and XIV. Regardless, this is not in accordance with the overall tendency observed for the donors in this study, as both Firmicutes and particularly C. leptum subgroup, exhibited the lower levels in the C+ and Cv samples than in the C-. Riaz Rajoka et al. (2017) reviewed publications regarding the effect of distinct diets on the gut microbiota composition, reporting that a western diet (low fiber/high fat) was often related to an increased Firmicutes population, in opposition to a plant based, polysaccharide rich diet, which led to a decrease in this phylum. These results are somehow in line with the present work, although it refers to prebiotic supplementation, which differs from a dietary regimen. Additionally, Holscher (2017) stated that fructans' consumption has been shown to increase butyrate concentrations, most of which are produced by bacteria belonging to Firmicutes phyla (in particular to Clostridium IV and XIVa), but the first increase after fructans' consumption belongs to non-butyrogenic bacteria. Hence, perhaps it can be hypothesized that C. versicolor and FOS were firstly metabolized by bacteria belonging to other groups, since it is also known the influence of the chain structure in the metabolization of prebiotics. Finally, Firmicutes are among the main phyla constituting the gut microbiota, and comprise more than 250 genera (Marciano and Vajro, 2017) which may difficult the establishment of a predictable behaviour in response to distinct prebiotics and polysaccharides.

When focusing on Bacteroidetes community, no overall consistent trend was observed among the five donors. In fact, while for donors B and D (**Figure 3.4.** and **3.6.**), Cv displayed a higher number of gene copies than C- and C+ (which exhibited the lowest values) for donors C and E (**Figure 3.5.** and **3.7.**;

regardless of the abnormal peak at 12 h) both C+ and Cv exhibited lower expression levels than C-. As referenced above, Yu et al. (2013), reported no differences between the negative control, FOS and PSP. Several authors have stated that prebiotic ingestion and a low fat/high fiber diet are often related to an increase of the Bacteroidetes population, and followed by a decrease in Firmicutes, which results in a reduction of the F/B ratio (Parnell and Reimer, 2011, Everard et al., 2011, Geurts et al., 2014). However, this effect is not universally described by all authors. For instance, as mentioned above Dewulf et al. (2012) observed an increased ratio between Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes in obese women that ingested prebiotics for several weeks. Nevertheless, it is important to take into account the differences between these studies and the present work, particularly as the referenced papers consider the systematic ingestion prebiotics by rats, mice or humans and the hereby described work considers only an in vitro fermentative model that lacks the complexity of the in vivo systems. Additionally, Li et al. (2015) stated that Bacteroidetes are able to metabolize a broad range of substrates. So, taking this into account it would be expected that FOS or Cv supplemented samples had consistently more gene copies than the negative control. Nevertheless, it has been also affirmed that Bacteroidetes are able to use proteins present in the yeast extract included in the fermentation medium, which could explain the increase in the gene copies observed in most donors (Scott et al., 2013, Liu et al., 2017). Another fact to consider is the sensibility of Bacteroides to acidic pH values. It is known that colonic pH values range between 5.5 and 7.5, but in vitro fermentation models are associated to a more acidic environment (Holscher, 2017). Regardless, as the fermentation progressed towards an acidification of the medium, this did not lead to a decrease in Bacteroidetes or Bacteroides levels.

As previously mentioned, when comparing the results obtained with the literature it is important to keep in mind the differences between C. versicolor biomass and extracts. To the best of our knowledge, there are no works characterizing the impact of C. versicolor biomass supplementation upon the gut microbiota, which makes it difficult to draw comparisons between results, although as previously referred, Yu et al. (2013) reported on the impact of PSP (a C. versicolor extracted polysaccharide) upon gut microbiota using a faecal model similar to the one employed in the present work. As previously stated, biomass is composed of both mycelium and primordia (young fruiting body) while the extracts are concentrated forms of the soluble constituents of the fruiting body. This means that the biomass is more resistant to the gastric fluid action (due to its own nature and composition, which protects the bioactive compounds from enzymatic action) while the active compounds present in C. versicolor extracts are unprotected against digestive enzymes (since there is no physical barrier). Karmali (2014) stated that after treatment with the digestive enzymes pepsin and trypsin (also used in the present work). Ganoderma lucidum biomass exhibited higher levels of β -glucans than its extract. Moreover, the extraction process may result in a denaturation of bioactive enzymes present in the original biomass and, therefore alter the bioactive potential of the extract. This effect may not be so relevant when considering the overall biomass (Barros et al., 2016a). Furthermore, mushrooms' biomass also possesses non-digestible carbohydrates (*i.e.* carbohydrates that are resistant to digestive enzymes, such as dietary fibres) that are not solubilized when producing the mushroom extracts. This resistant fraction, when reaching the colon, is subjected to the action of the local microbiota which may use them as a part of their fermentative process, resulting in the production of metabolites which have been

41

correlated with an array of potential health effects, both positive and negative (Ferrão L, 2017). Thus, it can be hypothesized that perhaps the undigestible fraction, left out when considering the mushroom extracts, may also be an important factor contributing to their potential beneficial effect and, therefore essential when considering the overall potential of *C. versicolor*. On one hand, it is known that long-term diet has a significant impact upon the gut microbiota composition (Riaz Rajoka *et al.*, 2017), but the extent of the changes that result from a short-term dietary intervention have been questioned. In fact, while David *et al.* (2014) reported some alterations in the human gut microbiome as a response to short term specific diet and Wu *et al.* (2011) stated that despite the fact that a short term controlled diet can in fact induce detectable changes in the microbiota is specific, up to a certain point, to a certain individual. On the other hand, this work demonstrated that *C. versicolor* biomass had an impact on the gut microbiota, in particular a bifidogenic effect. Taking this in consideration, we may theorize that in order to achieve consistent beneficial effects perhaps a prolonged supplementation through time is required, with further benefits being achieved when accompanied by other lifestyle changes (for example, diet changes).

Overall, while the results observed are interesting, it is important to keep in mind the limitations of the methodology (from sample size to faeces collection and fermentation) when considering their generalization. As previously mentioned, there is a high inter-individual variability as several factors like age, diet, hormonal status and lifestyle may result in more or less subtle differences in the baseline composition of the gut microbiota (Quigley, 2013, Million et al., 2013). In addition, different subjects may have distinct responses to the same stimuli, in terms of intensity or time (short-term or long-term responses). So, considering the variability factor, the sample size is a decisive when extrapolating the results to the population. This complexity is then increased when considering the sampling process as there is not a simple and direct approach (McDonald, 2017). Although, from the get-go, stool collection is an easy and non-invasive procedure, the auto-collection of the sample comprises the danger of external contamination as well as further modifications of the microbiota resulting from several factors such as exposure to oxygen and further fermentation of the faecal matter. Intestinal biopsies could solve some of these problems, but it is highly invasive procedure and therefore not one frequently used. Moreover, it is important to consider that the microbiota profile varies not only from the proximal to the distal colon, but differences have also been reported between the cellular populations adhered to the mucosa layer and those loose in the lumen (within a given section of the colon) (Payne et al., 2012). Furthermore, it has been suggested that even in a specific portion of stool there is a stratified biostructure with some taxa being more abundant in the center of the stools and others more abundant in the more external part that is in contact with the intestinal mucosa (Thomas et al., 2015). From a different perspective, and focusing on the fermentation process itself, the use of a batch system poses some significant limitations, so it is important to consider the limitation of substrate availability and the effect that the reduction of pH values have throughout the fermentation time. (McDonald, 2017, Payne et al., 2012).

3.1. Production of SCFA

As previously mentioned, the fermentation of carbohydrates carried out by colonic bacteria results in the production of organic acids. As such, the sugars consumed, and acids produced throughout the fermentation were identified and quantified (for controls and Cv) (**Figure 3.8.**), coupled with the control of the environmental pH values (**Figure 3.9.**). Regarding the sugars and acids, glucose and arabinose were detected in Cv along with acetic, propionic, butyric and lactic acids in varying concentrations through time. The pH values measured, as can be seen in **Figure 3.9.**, decreased in Cv sample and C+ throughout the time of fermentation, from an initial value of 5.90 to 4.79 and 3.49 respectively.



Figure 3.8. Example of the chromatogram obtained for a sample supplemented with C. versicolor digested biomass, after 24 h of fermentation. Each injection was carried out in duplicate.

As can be seen in **Table 3.3.**, in the Cv samples glucose was detected throughout the fermentation and arabinose was detected at the 12 h mark and onwards, in varying concentrations. Glucose concentration increased from 0 to 12 h and then decreased until the end of the fermentation process, while the arabinose concentration remained relatively stable through time.

Table 3.3. Concentrations obtained for sugars consumed and organic acids produced during the fermentation of the C. versicolor biomass and controls. The values are presented in mg mL⁻¹ and correspond to an average of the five donors, including two injections of each of each sample;

Time	Sample	Glucose	Frutose	Sucrose	Arabinose	Propionic acid	Lactic acid	Acetic acid	Butyric acid
0 h	C-	0.199 ± 0.023	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
	C+	0.199 ± 0.023	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
	Cv	0.199 ± 0.023	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
12 h	C-	0.238 ± 0.028	nd	nd		nd	nd	0.126 ± 0.033	nd
	C+	nq	3.448 ± 1.306	0.178 ± 0.006	nd	nd	0.018 ± 0.005	0.135 ± 0.079	nd
	Cv	0.940 ± 0.266	nd	nd	0.275 ± 0.079	0.031 ± 0.002	nd	0.097 ± 0.046	nd
	C-	0.220 ± 0.027	nd	nd	nd	0.014 ± 0.004	nd	0.404 ± 0.092	0.012 ± 0.001
24 h	C+	nq	3.240 ± 0.731	0.184 ± 0.009	nd	nd	0.084 ± 0.056	0.370 ± 0.195	0.075 ± 0.111
	Cv	0.733 ± 0.191	nd	nd	0.281 ± 0.057	0.048 ± 0.028	0.034 ± 0.026	0.171 ± 0.024	0.014 ± 0.005
48 h	C-	0.214 ± 0.016	nd	nd	nd	0.030 ± 0.007	nd	0.696 ± 0.339	0.024 ± 0.007
	C+	nq	2.636 ± 1.762	0.190 ± 0.013	nd	nd	0.097 ± 0.064	0.642 ± 0.394	0.018 ± 0.004
	Cv	0.577 ± 0.270	nd	nd	0.266 ± 0.094	0.018 ± 0.007	0.032 ± 0.022	0.212 ± 0.088	nd

nd- not detected; nq- detected, but bellow the quantification limit

Coriolus versicolor has been reported as being comprised of complex polysaccharides and polysaccharopeptides, which are mainly formed by β -glucans (polymers of D-glucose) in addition with other sugars like L-arabinose, L-rhamnose, D-xylose D-galactose, D-mannose and L-fucose, which may also be involved in other glyosidic linkages (Cruz et al., 2016, Cui and Chisti, 2003, Yu et al., 2013). While a reduction in glucose and arabinose levels could be expected throughout fermentation as, in theory, the sugars present in the medium could be metabolized by the bacteria as a part of their metabolism. However, the large β -glucans and other polysaccharides present in *C. versicolor* (not easily degraded by the human digestive system) reach the colon where they may either be utilized by the local flora or expelled in the stools. So, the increase in glucose from 0 to 12 h, could be explained by the action of the bacteria present in the faecal inoculum, which may have degraded glucose polymers into glucose monomers, resulting in an increase of the overall concentration. Moreover, while a similar process could explain the increase in arabinose observed during the first 12 h of fermentation, the absence of a reduction in this sugar's levels is somewhat unexpected, as many bacteria may use Larabinose as a source of carbon and energy in their metabolism (Chang et al., 2015, Agrawal et al., 2017). It was hypothesized that the degradation of complex polysaccharides resulted in the release of other monosaccharides that were preferably consumed by the bacteria (namely glucose) as this type of behaviour has already been described for some bacteria (Beisel and Afroz, 2016).

Regarding the SCFA production acetic and propionic acids were detected in Cv after 12 h of fermentation, while the first increased in concentration until the end of the assay, the latter presented a production increase from 12 to 24 h and then a decrease from 24 to 48 h. As for butyric and lactic acids, production was only detected after 24 h of fermentation with lactic acid being only detected in C+ and Cv. These acids' production was followed by an acidification of the medium, represented in **Figure 3.9.**, where it can be observed a decrease in the pH values of Cv, following the same trend as C+.



Figure 3.9. Variation of the pH values during the fermentation process. Values of the five donors measured at 0, 12, 24 and 48 h, in duplicate. •C-, negative control; •C+, positive control; •Cv, C. versicolor.

In theory, it was expected to obtain increasing concentrations of SCFA and lactic acid throughout the fermentative process, with higher values in both C+ and Cv samples. However, some inconsistencies were observed mainly regarding propionic, butyric and acetic acids. Propionic acid was not detected in C+ throughout the fermentation and at 48 h, its concentration was higher in C- than in Cv. Regarding the acetic acid concentration, C- and C+ had very similar values, both higher than Cv. Finally, the concentrations of butyric acid at 48 h were higher in C- than C+, and it was not detected in Cv. Yu et al. (2013) also tested the presence of SCFA and lactic acid and reported significantly higher concentration values of these acids in C. versicolor polysaccharide and also in FOS supplemented samples than in the negative control. This is partially in accordance with the present results, since we also report the presence of lactic acid only in FOS and in C. versicolor biomass, but no trend was observed regarding propionic, acetic and butyric. Rodrigues et al. (2016) also evaluated the SCFA content of P. nameko and reported that mushroom supplementation lead to SCFA concentrations between the ones obtained for FOS and the negative control. It also reported higher values regarding acetic and propionic acid production, which may be linked to Bifidobacterium metabolism. This is partially in accordance to our results since acetic and propionic acids corresponded to the two highest acids concentrations among the acids detected in Cv, although there was no trend between the mushrooms and the controls. Kawakami et al. (2016) tested two mushrooms powders (Agaricus bisporus, white and brown) through the intestinal fermentation in rats, and only the white type exhibited significantly higher SCFA concentrations than C-, which was explained by the distinct sugar content of the two types. This may explain the present results, since C. versicolor supplementation did not result in a higher concentration of SCFA or lactic acid than C-, which could be explained by the lower sugar content.

Several authors have affirmed that the fermentation of polysaccharides often results in acetic, propionic and butyric acids in a proportion of 3:1:1, a behaviour that was not observed in the results presented here (Scott et al., 2013, den Besten et al., 2013). In addition to SCFA, lactic acid, is also produced by some bacteria present in the gut belonging to the Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium genera, but in vivo it is not accumulated in the colon, since it is converted by certain bacterial species into other SCFA. However, this conversion was not observed as lactic acid concentration remained stable from 24 to 48 h. As for the SCFA, they have been shown to be formed as a result of distinct microbial metabolic pathways, with each acid being associated to more than one bacterial phylum or genus. For instance, propionate production has been related to some Negativutes within Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes and bacteria belonging to Verrucomicrobia, although it has been hypothesized that Bacteroidetes may be the largest propionate producer in the human gut. Additionally, butyrate production has also been linked to Firmicutes, namely Roseburia, Eubacterium and some Clostridia clusters. As for acetic acid, it has been related mainly to Bacteroidetes but also to Bifidobacterium (Binda et al., 2018, Ríos-Covián et al., 2016, Rios-Covian et al., 2017). However, in this work the only relationship that was possible to establish between the abundance of the bacterial groups tested and the SCFA production was regarding Firmicutes and C. leptum subgroup and the butyric acid. The samples supplemented with FOS and C. versicolor presented a lower abundance of Firmicutes and C. leptum (which have a butyrogenic metabolism) than the negative control, and this behaviour corresponded to lower concentrations of butyric acid than the negative control. Furthermore, it has been proved the cross-feeding mechanisms

have significant impact on the overall SCFA balance. These mechanisms consist either in the utilization of end products of a given bacteria by other bacterial species, or in the metabolization of an energetic breakdown molecule from one bacteria by another one (substrate cross-feeding). The first cross-feeding mechanism usually consists mainly in the conversion of acetate to butyrate and from butyrate to propionate (Ríos-Covián et al., 2016). Nevertheless, this behavior was not observed, as the acetic acid concentration remained stable and the butyrate was only detected at 48 h. Furthermore, it is known that the SCFA production lowers the pH value in the gut which, in turn affects the gut microbiota composition, and therefore the SCFA produced. In vivo, these acids produced are absorbed by the colonocytes, in exchange for bicarbonate, so the luminal pH value is a balance between this exchange and the SCFA which are not absorbed. Lower pH values are highly related to ability of inhibiting the overgrowth of pathogenic bacteria but also influence the overall bacteria growth and metabolism. For instance, butyrogenic reactions occur at pH 5.5, whereas acetate and propionate reactions usually occur at pH 6.5, although Bacteroidetes can still grow in a wide range of pH values (Ilhan et al., 2017, den Besten et al., 2013). It could be hypothesized that the absence of a pH controlling system, led to an acidification (Figure 3.9.) which was hampering to the growth of some bacteria and consequently the SCFA production. In fact, Liu et al. (2017) stated that the high dose prebiotics intervention promoted mainly the growth of Bifidobacterium, which led to the production of high amounts of lactic and acetic acid. The authors affirmed that this tendency induced a lowering of the pH values inhibiting the growth of pathogenic bacteria, but also the butyrate producing ones. This stands in line with the presented results, since it was possible to observe the stimulatory effect of both C. versicolor biomass and FOS, on Bifidobacterium population, and a lowering of the pH values, but this was not translated into high concentrations of butyrate, but instead acetate and lactate remained stable.

4. Conclusions

This work allowed to obtain a better insight into the potential effect of *C. versicolor* biomass upon the human gut microbiota and to understand the complex interactions of this mushroom with different bacterial groups, in order to further establish its prebiotic potential.

First, in result of the *in vitro* digestion of *C. versicolor* biomass, was possible to observe an increased proteolysis throughout the GI tract and a rich amino acid profile, that would be interesting to further analyse.

Secondly, and regarding the impact of C. versicolor digested biomass on gut microbiota, the results demonstrated a bifidogenic effect, in all donors, regardless of their intrinsic variability. When it comes to Lactobacillus population, it did not appear to be responsive to C. versicolor biomass presence, as no consistent increase of 16S rRNA gene copies was observed. Regarding other bacterial groups, no tendency was found among donors. Nevertheless, it was possible to observe that, in three out of five donors, C. versicolor biomass supplemented samples exhibited a similar behaviour to the FOS ones, both exhibiting a lower abundance of gene copies than the negative control, regarding Firmicutes and Clostridium leptum subgroup. As for Bacteroidetes and Bacteroides, in two out of five, C. versicolor displayed an opposite behaviour to FOS, exhibiting the highest number of 16S rRNA gene copies, while FOS displayed the lower values. Concerning the remaining donors, it was observed that C. versicolor digested biomass supplemented samples exhibited a lower number of 16S rRNA gene copies than negative control and FOS, in terms of Firmicutes, C. leptum, Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides population. The differences observed among the donors may be explained by the unique microbial profile of each individual. Further differences between FOS and sample tested may be explained by their distinct compositions, since FOS has a prebiotic per si, while C. versicolor biomass is composed by a great diversity of compounds where the prebiotic substrates (such as polysaccharides) may be in limited concentration and also by each bacterial group giving preference to different substrates.

From a metabolic point of view, glucose and arabinose were both identified and quantified but only glucose was consumed throughout time. From 12 to 48 h, acids were detected, mainly acetic, propionic and lactic acid. This may be explained by the stimulatory effect of *C. versicolor* on *Bifidobacterium*, which is related to acetic and lactic acid production. Additionally, the detection of butyric acid only at 24 h and its small concentrations may be explained by the reduced number of 16S rRNA gene copies detected for Firmicutes and *C. leptum* subgroups, which have a butyrogenic metabolism.

In summary, the results described above open the possibility to expand the range of bioactive properties associated to *C. versicolor* biomass, through the potential prebiotic activity exhibited on the human gut microbiota, in terms of the stimulation of bacterial groups and the resulting metabolites produced.

5. Future Work

The present work studied the potential prebiotic effect of *C. versicolor* biomass, focusing on its impact on the gut microbiota *in vitro*. Human faecal stools from different donors were used to carry out batch fermentations that had better mimic the complexity of the gut microbiota. However, considering the culture medium acidification observed, it would be interesting to use a pH-control system that allowed the stabilization of the pH values, as faeces are alkaline and the acidification of the media observed may introduce an important bias in the microbial groups and on their metabolites. Additionally, it would also be interesting to increase the number of bacterial groups analysed (both phyla and genera) focusing on the analysis of bacterial species known for their specific properties (for example, butyrogenic species), along with the inclusion of more donors to strengthen the consistency of the results, at a population level, instead of a donor-by-donor approach.

Additionally, an interesting follow up would also be the ingestion of *C. versicolor* biomass by human volunteers. As it is already a food supplement, it would be interesting to understand how the continuous intake could effectively modulate the human gut microbiota along with its metabolites and, given the known anti-inflammatory potential of this matrix, evaluate plasma levels of cytokines in an attempt to draw some correlations between cytokine levels, microbiota profile and its metabolites.
6. Appendixes

6.1. Appendix I- Informed consent form

Model of the informed consent form distributed to the donors in Portuguese.

FORMULÁRIO DE CONSENTIMENTO INFORMADO

Título do projeto de investigação: Avaliação do potencial preb	iótico do cogumelo Coriolus
<i>versicolor</i> – efeito na microbiota intestinal humana	
Nome do investigador: Célia Freitas Costa	
A completar pelo participante	
1. Leu a ficha informativa deste estudo?	SIM / NÃO
2. Se colocou questões, recebeu respostas adequadas?	SIM / NÃO / Não aplicável
3. Compreende que é livre de abandonar este estudo, sem	SIM / NÃO
necessidade de dar uma justificação?	
4. Aceita participar neste estudo?	SIM / NÃO
Assinatura (participante):	Data
Nome do participante (letras maiúsculas):	
Assinatura do investigador:	Data

Este projeto é supervisionado por: Prof. Dra. Manuela Pintado

Contatos: Escola Superior de Biotecnologia da Universidade Católica Portuguesa do Porto (ESB-UCP); +351 911 095 151

6.2. Appendix II- Instructions for stool specimen collection

Model of the instructions for stool specimen collection delivered to the donors, in Portuguese.

KIT Doação de fezes

O presente kit é composto por:

- Formulário de consentimento informado;
- Informação do estudo, critérios de elegibilidade e instruções;
- 1 Caixa de vácuo;
- 2 Sacos de plástico (um cortado e outro inteiro);
- 1 saqueta de anaerobiose;
- 1 par de luvas;
- 1 rolo de película aderente;
- 1 tesoura;
- 1 elástico de borracha.

Informações do estudo

O presente estudo tem como objetivo avaliar o efeito prebiótico de um extrato de cogumelo (*Coriolos versicolor*) na microbiota intestinal humana. Para isso, após simulação das condições gastrointestinais, proceder-se-á a fermentação *in vitro* de fezes humanas com o suplemento digerido. Por fim, será avaliado o crescimento de determinados grupos bacterianos e a concentração de ácidos orgânicos resultantes do metabolismo bacteriano.

Critérios de elegibilidade

Os participantes no presente estudo devem preencher os seguintes requisitos:

- Assinar o formulário de consentimento informado;
- Ser saudável;
- Ter entre 18 e 65 anos de idade;
- Não seguir nenhum regime alimentar restritivo (ex. vegetarianismo)
- Não ter intolerâncias alimentares, nem alergias alimentares severas;
- Não ter ingerido suplementos prebióticos, probióticos (incluindo iogurtes com "Bifidus") ou antibióticos nos últimos 6 meses;

Instruções para colheita

Na colheita de fezes, é importante ter em consideração que a urina, a água ou o papel higiénico podem contaminar a amostra. Assim, este procedimento deve seguir as seguintes etapas:

- 1. Calçar as luvas;
- 2. Levantar ao tampa e o aro da sanita, e cobri-la com película aderente, deixando uma folga, para a amostra assentar; Utilizar a tesoura para cortar a película, se necessário;
- 3. Baixar o aro da sanita, e colocar o saco de plástico cortado em cima da película aderente;



- 4. Defecar em cima do saco de plástico cortado;
- 5. Segurando nas bordas da película, levantar o aro da sanita e colocar a película com a amostra dentro do saco de plástico;
- 6. Colocar o saco de plástico, as luvas e a tesoura dentro da caixa de vácuo;
- 7. Abrir a embalagem da saqueta de anaerobiose e colocá-la dentro da caixa de vácuo;
- 8. Fechar a caixa de vácuo, colocando o elástico à sua volta;
- 9. Colocar a caixa de vácuo e o rolo de película aderente dentro do saco de plástico;

6.3. Appendix III- Bacterial calibration curves for qPCR



Figure 6.1. Calibration curve for Firmicutes population prepared using gDNA solutions from Lactobacillus gasseri.



Figure 6.2. Calibration curve for Bacteroidetes prepared using gDNA solutions from Bacteroides vulgatus.

Bacteroides



Figure 6.3. Calibration curve for Bacteroides prepared using gDNA solutions from Bacteroides vulgatus.



Figure 6.4. Calibration curve for C. leptum subgroup prepared using gDNA solutions from C. leptum.



Figure 6.5. Calibration curve for Lactobacillus subgroup prepared using gDNA solutions from Lactobacillus gasseri.



Figure 6.6. Calibration curve for Bifidobacterium prepared using gDNA solutions from Bifidobacterium longum subs Infantis.

6.4. Appendix IV- Real time PCR results and statistical analysis.

 Table 6.1.
 Variation of microbiota in donor A.
 Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.

			log copy n	umber of 16S rRNA/n	g of DNA		
Time	Condition	Firmicutes	Bacteroidetes	Bacteroides	C. leptum	Lactobacillus	Bifidobacterium
	C-	0.465 ± 0.007	^a 0.319 ± 0.001	^a 0.315 ± 0.009 ^a	0.349 ± 0.004 ª	0.142 ± 0.004 ª	0.236 ± 0.006 ª
0 h	C+	0.465 ± 0.007	^a 0.319 ± 0.001	^a 0.315 ± 0.009 ^a	0.349 ± 0.004 ª	0.142 ± 0.004 ª	0.236 ± 0.006 ^a
	Cv	0.465 ± 0.007	^a 0.319 ± 0.001	^a 0.315 ± 0.009 ^a	0.349 ± 0.004 ª	0.142 ± 0.004 ª	0.236 ± 0.006 ^a
	C-	0.377 ± 0.001	^a 0.277 ± 0.002	^a 0.292 ± 0.002 ^a	0.285 ± 0.010 ª	0.091 ± 0.009 ª	0.209 ± 0.002 ª
12 h	C+	0.413 ± 0.003	^b 0.293 ± 0.002	^b 0.290 ± 0.016 ^a	0.306 ± 0.018 ^b	0.131 ± 0.008 ^b	0.247 ± 0.001 ^b
	Cv	0.373 ± 0.006	^a 0.292 ± 0.008	^b 0.323 ± 0.001 ^b	0.275 ± 0.004 °	0.087 ± 0.007 ª	0.223 ± 0.005 °
	C-	0.400 ± 0.002	^a 0.244 ± 0.019	^a 0.278 ± 0.002 ^a	0.293 ± 0.006 ^a	0.098 ± 0.011 ª	0.205 ± 0.001 ª
24 h	C+	0.410 ± 0.005	^b 0.294 ± 0.002	^b 0.299 ± 0.006 ^b	0.307 ± 0.002 ^b	0.124 ± 0.005 ^b	0.266 ± 0.003 ^b
	Cv	0.363 ± 0.002	° 0.254 ± 0.006	^a 0.266 ± 0.003 ^c	0.275 ± 0.003 °	0.174 ± 0.004 °	0.242 ± 0.000 ª
	C-	0.445 ± 0.003	^a 0.315 ± 0.007	^a 0.323 ± 0.002 ^a	0.310 ± 0.004 ^a	0.140 ± 0.005 ª	0.206 ± 0.004 ª
48 h	C+	0.413 ± 0.002	^b 0.285 ± 0.003	^b 0.303 ± 0.001 ^b	0.302 ± 0.004 ^b	0.258 ± 0.003 ^b	0.301 ± 0.005 ^b
	Cv	0.381 ± 0.004	° 0.230 ± 0.002	$^{\circ}$ 0.235 ± 0.002 $^{\circ}$	0.294 ± 0.003 ^b	0.124 ± 0.003 °	0.249 ± 0.003 ^c

Letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between the controls and the *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass, at each sampling time. Cv, *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass; C+, positive control (FOS); C-, negative control

						log	g copy	nu	mber o	f 16	SS rRN	A/n	ig of Dl	NA										
Time	Condition	Firm	icutes		Bact	terc	oidetes		Bad	cter	oides		C.	lej	otum		Lact	ob	acillus		Bifido	bad	cterium	1
	C-	0.412 ±	0.002	а	0.302	±	0.002	а	0.303	±	0.007	а	0.300	±	0.002	а	0.130	±	0.005	а	0.219	±	0.001	а
0 h	C+	0.412 ±	0.002	а	0.302	±	0.002	а	0.303	±	0.007	а	0.300	±	0.002	а	0.130	±	0.005	а	0.219	±	0.001	а
	Cv	0.412 ±	0.002	а	0.302	±	0.002	а	0.303	±	0.007	а	0.300	±	0.002	а	0.130	±	0.005	а	0.219	±	0.001	а
	C-	0.404 ±	0.000	а	0.292	±	0.003	а	0.311	±	0.001	а	0.316	±	0.001	а	0.143	±	0.001	а	0.232	±	0.006	а
12 h	C+	0.334 ±	0.002	b	0.253	±	0.002	b	0.267	±	0.009	b	0.268	±	0.002	b	0.167	±	0.001	b	0.297	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.354 ±	0.004	С	0.329	±	0.003	С	0.330	±	0.002	а	0.250	±	0.006	С	0.137	±	0.008	а	0.251	±	0.003	С
	C-	0.386 ±	0.003	а	0.262	±	0.003	а	0.259	±	0.002	а	0.277	±	0.005	а	0.123	±	0.008	а	0.196	±	0.005	а
24 h	C+	0.333 ±	0.007	b	0.254	±	0.001	b	0.262	±	0.006	b	0.262	±	0.003	b	0.168	±	0.003	b	0.295	±	0.003	b
	Cv	0.336 ±	0.003	С	0.314	±	0.003	С	0.294	±	0.003	а	0.233	±	0.005	С	0.152	±	0.002	a,b	0.231	±	0.002	С
	C-	0.408 ±	0.005	а	0.311	±	0.002	а	0.309	±	0.003	а	0.298	±	0.003	а	0.134	±	0.004	а	0.212	±	0.003	а
48 h	C+	0.381 ±	0.001	b	0.290	±	0.001	b	0.291	±	0.002	b	0.291	±	0.002	b	0.256	±	0.006	b	0.341	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.395 ±	0.009	С	0.367	±	0.003	С	0.344	±	0.001	С	0.256	±	0.000	С	0.140	±	0.003	а	0.275	±	0.002	С

 Table 6.2. Variation of microbiota in donor B. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.

Letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between the controls and the *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass, at each sampling time. Cv, *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass; C+, positive control (FOS); C-, negative control.

						lo	og o	copy nu	Im	ber of 1	6S	rRNA/n	go	of DNA											
Time	Condition	Fir	mio	cutes		Bac	tero	oidetes		Ba	ctei	roides		C.	lej	otum		Lact	oba	acillus		Bifido	ba	cterium	
	C-	0.432	±	0.005	а	0.291	±	0.004	а	0.274	±	0.003	а	0.320	±	0.003	а	0.163	±	0.005	а	0.195	±	0.003	а
0 h	C+	0.432	±	0.005	а	0.291	±	0.004	а	0.274	±	0.003	а	0.320	±	0.003	а	0.163	±	0.005	а	0.195	±	0.003	а
	Cv	0.432	±	0.005	а	0.291	±	0.004	а	0.274	±	0.003	а	0.320	±	0.003	а	0.163	±	0.005	а	0.195	±	0.003	а
	C-	0.441	±	0.004	а	0.298	±	0.001	а	0.307	±	0.003	а	0.329	±	0.002	а	0.151	±	0.021	а	0.202	±	0.005	а
12 h	C+	0.408	±	0.002	b	0.296	±	0.002	а	0.288	±	0.003	b	0.323	±	0.001	b	0.154	±	0.002	а	0.273	±	0.006	b
	Cv	0.406	±	0.008	b	0.302	±	0.007	а	0.283	±	0.002	С	0.283	±	0.005	С	0.132	±	0.010	а	0.226	±	0.019	С
	C-	0.437	±	0.005	а	0.298	±	0.004	а	0.303	±	0.004	а	0.308	±	0.001	а	0.148	±	0.010	а	0.178	±	0.002	а
24 h	C+	0.395	±	0.003	b	0.288	±	0.002	b	0.277	±	0.006	b	0.294	±	0.003	b	0.144	±	0.006	а	0.284	±	0.003	b
	Cv	0.400	±	0.009	b	0.281	±	0.002	С	0.267	±	0.001	С	0.289	±	0.005	а	0.152	±	0.004	а	0.242	±	0.003	С
	C-	0.436	±	0.004	а	0.297	±	0.001	а	0.295	±	0.003	а	0.290	±	0.002	а	0.138	±	0.003	а	0.192	±	0.002	а
48 h	C+	0.386	±	0.000	b	0.288	±	0.001	b	0.271	±	0.005	b	0.281	±	0.001	b	0.128	±	0.011	b	0.305	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.438	±	0.009	а	0.276	±	0.006	С	0.245	±	0.002	С	0.304	±	0.004	С	0.162	±	0.006	а	0.270	±	0.001	С

 Table 6.3.
 Variation of microbiota in donor C.
 Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.

Letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between the controls and the *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass, at each sampling time. Cv, *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass; C+, positive control (FOS); C-, negative control

						lo	og o	copy nu	m	per of 1	6S	rRNA/n	g	of DNA											
Time	Condition	Fir	mi	cutes		Bac	tero	oidetes		Ba	ctei	roides		C.	lej	otum		Lact	oba	acillus		Bifido	ba	cterium	1
	C-	0.451	±	0.014	а	0.296	±	0.005	а	0.269	±	0.015	а	0.314	±	0.002	а	0.132	±	0.005	а	0.211	±	0.001	а
0 h	C+	0.451	±	0.014	а	0.296	±	0.005	а	0.269	±	0.015	а	0.314	±	0.002	а	0.132	±	0.005	а	0.211	±	0.001	а
	Cv	0.451	±	0.014	а	0.296	±	0.005	а	0.269	±	0.015	а	0.314	±	0.002	а	0.132	±	0.005	а	0.211	±	0.001	а
	C-	0.415	±	0.002	а	0.290	±	0.001	а	0.296	±	0.004	а	0.321	±	0.001	а	0.144	±	0.002	а	0.231	±	0.005	а
12 h	C+	0.382	±	0.002	b	0.256	±	0.002	b	0.268	±	0.005	b	0.272	±	0.004	b	0.230	±	0.002	b	0.292	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.369	±	0.002	С	0.301	±	0.003	С	0.300	±	0.003	а	0.272	±	0.002	b	0.141	±	0.006	а	0.239	±	0.003	С
	C-	0.394	±	0.004	а	0.280	±	0.005	а	0.274	±	0.005	а	0.298	±	0.003	а	0.140	±	0.003	а	0.216	±	0.002	а
24 h	C+	0.385	±	0.003	b	0.238	±	0.003	b	0.244	±	0.001	b	0.258	±	0.003	b	0.231	±	0.003	b	0.287	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.360	±	0.003	С	0.330	±	0.002	С	0.333	±	0.003	С	0.250	±	0.005	С	0.140	±	0.004	а	0.227	±	0.002	С
	C-	0.452	±	0.004	а	0.299	±	0.002	а	0.276	±	0.004	а	0.308	±	0.003	а	0.142	±	0.001	а	0.214	±	0.005	а
48 h	C+	0.390	±	0.003	b	0.252	±	0.003	b	0.242	±	0.006	b	0.244	±	0.004	b	0.236	±	0.002	b	0.292	±	0.002	b
	Cv	0.408	±	0.006	С	0.315	±	0.002	С	0.306	±	0.021	С	0.296	±	0.003	С	0.140	±	0.002	а	0.272	±	0.001	С

Table 6.4. Variation of microbiota in donor D. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.

Letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between the controls and the *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass, at each sampling time. Cv, *Coriolus versicolor* digested biomass; C+, positive control (FOS); C-, negative control

Table 6.5. Variation of microbiota in donor E. Values presented as mean ± standard deviation.

						log	co	py num	ıbe	r of 168	S rF	RNA/ng	of	DNA											
Time	Condition	Fir	mi	cutes		Bact	terc	oidetes		Bac	cter	oides		C.	lej	otum		Lact	oba	acillus		Bifido	ba	cterium	1
	C-	0.455	±	0.002	а	0.354	±	0.001	а	0.312	±	0.007	а	0.345	±	0.002	а	0.202	±	0.005	а	0.244	±	0.004	а
0 h	C+	0.455	±	0.002	а	0.354	±	0.001	а	0.312	±	0.007	а	0.345	±	0.002	а	0.202	±	0.005	а	0.244	±	0.004	а
	Cv	0.455	±	0.002	а	0.354	±	0.001	а	0.312	±	0.007	а	0.345	±	0.002	а	0.202	±	0.005	а	0.244	±	0.004	а
	C-	0.405	±	0.006	а	0.316	±	0.001	а	0.301	±	0.002	а	0.345	±	0.002	а	0.187	±	0.002	а	0.223	±	0.001	а
12 h	C+	0.390	±	0.001	b	0.267	±	0.002	b	0.252	±	0.005	b	0.276	±	0.002	b	0.174	±	0.002	b	0.246	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.378	±	0.002	С	0.541	±	0.006	С	0.489	±	0.004	С	0.538	±	0.011	С	0.178	±	0.002	b	0.265	±	0.004	С
	C-	0.408	±	0.001	а	0.313	±	0.006	а	0.300	±	0.006	а	0.297	±	0.002	а	0.166	±	0.003	а	0.220	±	0.002	а
24 h	C+	0.403	±	0.001	а	0.272	±	0.001	b	0.255	±	0.006	b	0.265	±	0.009	b	0.175	±	0.004	b	0.278	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.335	±	0.004	b	0.217	±	0.001	С	0.213	±	0.011	С	0.219	±	0.003	С	0.151	±	0.002	С	0.247	±	0.002	С
	C-	0.427	±	0.008	а	0.304	±	0.001	а	0.305	±	0.005	а	0.306	±	0.004	а	0.171	±	0.003	а	0.236	±	0.001	а
48 h	C+	0.388	±	0.001	b	0.261	±	0.002	b	0.236	±	0.006	b	0.254	±	0.003	b	0.182	±	0.004	b	0.265	±	0.001	b
	Cv	0.372	±	0.006	С	0.228	±	0.001	С	0.206	±	0.010	С	0.241	±	0.005	С	0.166	±	0.005	а	0.272	±	0.001	b

Letters indicate significant differences (p < 0.05) between the controls and the Coriolus versicolor digested biomass, at each sampling time. Cv, Coriolus versicolor digested biomass; C+, positive control (FOS); C-, negative control

7. Annexes

7.1. Annex I- NZY tissue gDNA isolation kit



NZY Tissue gDNA Isolation kit

Catalogue numbers: MB13502, 50 columns MB13503, 200 columns

Description

NZY Tissue gDNA Isolation kits are designed for the simple and rapid small-scale preparation of highly pure genomic DNA from a variety of sample sources including animal cells and tissues, Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, mouse tails, yeast, forensic samples and clinical samples. The method is spin column silica-based and requires no phenol or chloroform extraction. This kit uses optimized lysis buffers containing Proteinase K and SDS to release DNA from cells. After preparing the lysate, DNA is selectively absorbed into the NZYSpin Tissue Column and others impurities such as proteins and salts are removed during the washing steps. The eluted genomic DNA has a A_{260/280} ratio between 1.7 and 1.9 what makes it ready to use in applications like sequencing, PCR, multiplex-PCR, genotyping and a wide range of other enzymatic manipulations.

The NZY Tissue gDNA Isolation kit is optimized to isolate up to 35 μ g of DNA from up to 25 mg of tissue samples or 10⁷ cells. We suggest not using more than the recommended starting material to prevent reduction in yield and purity of DNA isolated. For samples with very high RNA and protein contents (e.g. liver or spleen tissues), use only up to 15 mg of the sample. This kit is suitable for isolation of DNA from human or animal blood.

Storage conditions and reagents preparation

All kit components can be stored at room temperature (20-25 °C) and are stable till the expiry date. Before use, add 1.35 mL (MB13502/3) of Proteinase buffer to each vial of Proteinase K and vortex. Proteinase K solution is stable at -20 °C for up to 6 months. Add 28 mL (MB13502) or 112 mL (MB13503) of ethanol (96-100%) to each bottle of buffer NW2. Add 0.625 mL (MB13502) or 2.5 mL (MB13503) of water to RNase A vial. Store the RNase A solution at 4 °C for up to 3 months. For longer storage (up to 1 year), the RNAse A solution should be divided into small aliquots and stored at -20 °C. Buffers NL and NW1 contain guanidine hydrochloride. Wear gloves and goggles when using this kit.

System Components

Component	50 columns	200 columns
Buffer NT1	20 mL	80 mL
Buffer NL	15 mL	60 mL
Buffer NW1	30 mL	120 mL
Buffer NW2 (concentrate)	2 x 7 mL	2 x 28 mL
Buffer NE	15 mL	60 mL
Proteinase K (lyophilized)	30 mg	4 x 30 mg
Proteinase buffer	1.8 mL	7.2 mL
RNase A (lyophilized)	25 mg	100 mg
NZYSpin Tissue columns (light green ring)	50	200
Collection tubes (2 mL)	100	400

Standard protocol for isolating genomic DNA from animal tissues, cultured cells and bacteria cells

1. Sample preparation

<u>Animal Tissues</u>: Cut up to 25 mg tissue sample into small pieces, and place it in a microcentrifuge tube. Proceed with step 2.

Notes: Tissue samples can be ground under liquid nitrogen for more efficient lysis. For rodent tails, place one (for rat) or two (for mouse) 0.6 cm-long pieces in a 1.5 mL tube.

<u>Cultured Cells</u>: Re-suspend up to 10^7 cells in 200 µL Buffer NT1. Add 25 µL Proteinase K solution and 200 µL Buffer NL^{*}. Mix thoroughly by vortex, and incubate at 56 °C for 10-15 min. Vortex occasionally during incubation. Proceed with step 5.

*Mix Buffer NL thoroughly by shaking before use.

<u>Bacteria Cells</u>: Pellet up to 1 mL bacteria culture for 5 min at 8,000 xg. Discard supernatant. Re-suspend cell pellet in 180 μ L Buffer NT1 by pipetting up and down. Add 25 μ L Proteinase K solution and vortex vigorously. Incubate at 56 °C for 1-3 hours. Mix occasionally during incubation. Proceed with step 3.

For other sample sources see the support procedures available in https://www.nzytech.com/products-services/kits-genomic-dna-purification/mb135/.

2. Pre-lysis of sample

Add 180 μ L of Buffer NT1 and 25 μ L Proteinase K solution to the sample. Mix thoroughly by vortex. Incubate at 56 °C for 1-3 hours and vortex occasionally during incubation.

Note: Samples that are difficult to lyse can be incubated overnight as well.

3. Removal of RNA (optional)

If RNA-free DNA is required, add 10 μ L of RNase A solution (40 mg/mL) to each sample. Mix and incubate for 5 min at room temperature.

4. Lysis of sample

Vortex the sample. Add 200 μL Buffer NL^{\star} to the sample, and mix by vortex for 10 seconds.

Notes: If insoluble particles are visible, centrifuge for 5 min at full speed and transfer the supernatant to a new microcentifuge tube. *Mix Buffer NL thoroughly by shaking before use.

5. Addition of ethanol

Add 210 µL of 100% ethanol to the sample and mix immediately by vortex.

6. DNA binding

Transfer the mixture from step 5 into a NZYSpin Tissue Column placed in a 2 mL collection tube. Centrifuge for 1 min at > 11,000 xg. Discard flow-through and place the column in a new collection tube.

7. Wash silica membrane

Add 500 μ L of Buffer NW1 to the column. Centrifuge for 1 min at > 11,000 xg. Discard flow-through and place the column back into the collection tube.

Add 600 μ L of Buffer NW2 (make sure ethanol was previously added) to the column, and centrifuge for 1 min at > 11,000 xg. Discard flow-through.

Note: For isolations of viral DNA from stool, we recommend to repeat the wash silica membrane step with Buffer NW2. Add more 600 µL of Buffer NW2 to the column, and centrifuge for 1 min at > 11,000 xg. Discard flow-through.

8. Dry silica membrane

Place the NZYSpin Tissue Column back into the collection tube and centrifuge for 2 min at > 11,000 xg.

9. Elute DNA

Place the column into a clean microcentrifuge tube and add 100 μ L of Buffer NE, TE buffer or sterile water (preheating of elution buffer to 70 °C may improve yield) directly in the membrane column. Incubate 1 min at room temperature and centrifuge at > 11,000 xg for 2 min to elute DNA. The genomic DNA can be stored at 4 °C or -20 °C.

References

- Aachary, A. A. & Prapulla, S. G. 2011. Xylooligosaccharides (XOS) as an Emerging Prebiotic: Microbial Synthesis, Utilization, Structural Characterization, Bioactive Properties, and Applications. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, **10**, 2-16.
- Agrawal, D. C., Tsay, H.-S., Shyur, L.-F., Wu, Y.-C. & Wang, S.-Y. 2017. *Medicinal Plants and Fungi: Recent Advances in Research and Development*, Springer.
- Aida, F. M. N. A., Shuhaimi, M., Yazid, M. & Maaruf, A. G. 2009. Mushroom as a potential source of prebiotics: a review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, **20**, 567-575.
- Alimolaei, M. & Golchin, M. 2016. An Efficient DNA Extraction Method for *Lactobacillus casei*, a Difficultto-Lyse Bacterium. *Int J Enteric Pathog*, **4**, 1-6.
- Alpers, D. H. 2003. CARBOHYDRATES | Digestion, Absorption, and Metabolism. *In:* Caballero, B. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences and Nutrition (Second Edition).* Oxford: Academic Press.
- Angelakis, E., Merhej, V. & Raoult, D. 2013. Related actions of probiotics and antibiotics on gut microbiota and weight modification. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, **13**, 889-899.
- Arumugam, M., Raes, J., Pelletier, E., Le Paslier, D., Yamada, T., Mende, D. R., Fernandes, G. R., Tap, J., Bruls, T., Batto, J.-M., *et al.* 2011. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. *Nature*, **473**, 174.
- Atashpaz, S., Khani, S., Barzegari, A., Barar, J., Vahed, S. Z., Azarbaijani, R. & Omidi, Y. 2010. A robust universal method for extraction of genomic DNA from bacterial species. *Microbiology*, **79**, 538-542.
- Barros, A. B., Bell, V., Ferrão, J., Calabrese, V. & Fernandes, T. H. 2016a. Mushroom Biomass: Some Clinical Implications of β-Glucans and Enzymes. *Current Research in Nutrition and Food Science Journal*, **4**, 37-47.
- Barros, A. B., Ferrão, J. & Fernandes, T. 2016b. A safety assessment of *Coriolus versicolor* biomass as a food supplement. *Food & Nutrition Research*, **60**, 10.3402/fnr.v60.29953.
- Bastien, M., Poirier, P., Lemieux, I. & Després, J.-P. 2014. Overview of Epidemiology and Contribution of Obesity to Cardiovascular Disease. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, **56**, 369-381.
- Beisel, C. L. & Afroz, T. 2016. Rethinking the Hierarchy of Sugar Utilization in Bacteria. *Journal of Bacteriology*, **198**, 374.
- Bienenstock, J., Kunze, W. & Forsythe, P. 2015. Microbiota and the gut-brain axis. *Nutrition Reviews,* **73 Suppl 1,** 28-31.
- Bimczok, D., Wrenger, J., Schirrmann, T., Rothkötter, H.-J., Wray, V. & Rau, U. 2009. Short chain regioselectively hydrolyzed scleroglucans induce maturation of porcine dendritic cells. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 82, 321-331.
- Binda, C., Lopetuso, L. R., Rizzatti, G., Gibiino, G., Cennamo, V. & Gasbarrini, A. 2018. Actinobacteria: A relevant minority for the maintenance of gut homeostasis. *Digestive and Liver Disease*, **50**, 421-428.
- Bindels, L. B., Delzenne, N. M., Cani, P. D. & Walter, J. 2015. Towards a more comprehensive concept for prebiotics. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, **12**, 303-10.

- Boursier, J., Mueller, O., Barret, M., Machado, M., Fizanne, L., Araujo-Perez, F., Guy, C. D., Seed, P. C., Rawls, J. F. & David, L. A. 2016. The severity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with gut dysbiosis and shift in the metabolic function of the gut microbiota. *Hepatology*, 63, 764-775.
- Breitbart, M., Hewson, I., Felts, B., Mahaffy, J. M., Nulton, J., Salamon, P. & Rohwer, F. 2003. Metagenomic analyses of an uncultured viral community from human feces. *Journal of Bacteriology*, **185**, 6220-3.
- Buttó, L. F. & Haller, D. 2016. Dysbiosis in intestinal inflammation: Cause or consequence. *International Journal of Medical Microbiology*, **306**, 302-309.
- Cammarota, G., Ianiro, G., Bibbò, S. & Gasbarrini, A. 2014. Gut microbiota modulation: probiotics, antibiotics or fecal microbiota transplantation? *Internal and Emergency Medicine*, **9**, 365-373.
- Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A. & Severi, C. 2015. The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. *Annals of Gastroenterology : Quarterly Publication of the Hellenic Society of Gastroenterology*, **28**, 203-209.
- Cassard, A.-M., Gérard, P. & Perlemuter, G. 2017. Microbiota, Liver Diseases, and Alcohol. *Microbiology Spectrum*, **5**.
- Chabe, M., Lokmer, A. & Segurel, L. 2017. Gut Protozoa: Friends or Foes of the Human Gut Microbiota? *Trends Parasitol*, **33**, 925-934.
- Chang, C., Tesar, C., Li, X., Kim, Y., Rodionov, D. A. & Joachimiak, A. 2015. A novel transcriptional regulator of L-arabinose utilization in human gut bacteria. *Nucleic acids research*, **43**, 10546-10559.
- Chang, S.-T. & Buswell, J. A. 2008. Development of the World Mushroom Industry: Applied Mushroom Biology and International Mushroom Organizations. **10**, 195-208.
- Charalampopoulos, D. & Rastall, R. A. 2012. Prebiotics in foods. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, **23**, 187-191.
- Chen, H., Ju, Y., Li, J. & Yu, M. 2012. Antioxidant activities of polysaccharides from *Lentinus edodes* and their significance for disease prevention. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, **50**, 214-218.
- Chen, J., Jin, X., Zhang, L. & Yang, L. 2013. A Study on the Antioxidant Effect of Coriolus Versicolor Polysaccharide in Rat Brain Tissues. African Journal of Traditional, Complementary, and Alternative Medicines, 10, 481-484.
- Christensen, E. G., Licht, T. R., Kristensen, M. & Bahl, M. I. 2013. Bifidogenic effect of whole-grain wheat during a 12-week energy-restricted dietary intervention in postmenopausal women. *European Journal Of Clinical Nutrition*, **67**, 1316.
- Chu, K. K., Ho, S. S. & Chow, A. H. 2002. *Coriolus versicolor:* a medicinal mushroom with promising immunotherapeutic values. *The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, **42**, 976-984.
- Chudnovskiy, A., Mortha, A., Kana, V., Kennard, A., Ramirez, J. D., Rahman, A., Remark, R., Mogno,
 I., Ng, R., Gnjatic, S., *et al.* 2016. Host-Protozoan Interactions Protect from Mucosal Infections through Activation of the Inflammasome. *Cell*, **167**, 444-456.e14.

- Claesson, M. J., Cusack, S., O'sullivan, O., Greene-Diniz, R., De Weerd, H., Flannery, E., Marchesi, J. R., Falush, D., Dinan, T., Fitzgerald, G., *et al.* 2011. Composition, variability, and temporal stability of the intestinal microbiota of the elderly. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **108**, 4586-4591.
- Claesson, M. J., Jeffery, I. B., Conde, S., Power, S. E., O'connor, E. M., Cusack, S., Harris, H. M. B., Coakley, M., Lakshminarayanan, B., O'sullivan, O., *et al.* 2012. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. *Nature*, **488**, 178.
- Clarridge, J. E. 2004. Impact of 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis for identification of bacteria on clinical microbiology and infectious diseases. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, **17**, 840-862.
- Clemente, Jose c., Ursell, Luke k., Parfrey, Laura w. & Knight, R. 2012. The Impact of the Gut Microbiota on Human Health: An Integrative View. *Cell*, **148**, 1258-1270.
- Collins, R. A. & Ng, T. B. 1997. Polysaccharopeptide from *Coriolus versicolor* has potential for use against human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Life Sciences*, **60**, PL383-PL387.
- Conlon, M. & Bird, A. 2015. The Impact of Diet and Lifestyle on Gut Microbiota and Human Health. *Nutrients,* **7**, 17.
- Cruz, A. 2015. *Study of the bioactive properties of mushroom Coriolus versicolor.* [Master's thesis] Universidade Católica Portuguesa- Escola Superior de Biotecnologia-Porto.
- Cruz, A., Pimentel, L. G., Rodríguez-Alcalá, L. M., Fernandes, T. & Pintado, M. 2016. Health Benefits of Edible Mushrooms Focused on *Coriolus versicolor*: A Review. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Research*, 4, 773-781.
- Cryan, J. F. & Dinan, T. G. 2012. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, **13**, 701.
- Cui, J. & Chisti, Y. 2003. Polysaccharopeptides of *Coriolus versicolor*: physiological activity, uses, and production. *Biotechnology Advances*, **21**, 109-122.
- Dashtban, M., Schraft, H. & Qin, W. 2009. Fungal Bioconversion of Lignocellulosic Residues; Opportunities & Perspectives. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, **5**, 578-595.
- David, L. A., Maurice, C. F., Carmody, R. N., Gootenberg, D. B., Button, J. E., Wolfe, B. E., Ling, A. V., Devlin, A. S., Varma, Y. & Fischbach, M. A. 2014. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature*, **505**, 559.
- De Filippo, C., Cavalieri, D., Di Paola, M., Ramazzotti, M., Poullet, J. B., Massart, S., Collini, S., Pieraccini, G. & Lionetti, P. 2010. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **107**, 14691-14696.
- De Souza Oliveira, R. P., Rodrigues Florence, A. C., Perego, P., De Oliveira, M. N. & Converti, A. 2011.
 Use of lactulose as prebiotic and its influence on the growth, acidification profile and viable counts of different probiotics in fermented skim milk. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 145, 22-7.
- Delroisse, J. M., Boulvin, A. L., Parmentier, I., Dauphin, R. D., Vandenbol, M. & Portetelle, D. 2008. Quantification of *Bifidobacterium spp.* and *Lactobacillus spp.* in rat fecal samples by real-time PCR. *Microbiological Research*, **163**.

- Den Besten, G., Van Eunen, K., Groen, A. K., Venema, K., Reijngoud, D.-J. & Bakker, B. M. 2013. The role of short-chain fatty acids in the interplay between diet, gut microbiota, and host energy metabolism. *Journal of Lipid Research*, **54**, 2325-2340.
- Dewulf, E. M., Cani, P. D., Claus, S. P., Fuentes, S., Puylaert, P. G., Neyrinck, A. M., Bindels, L. B., De Vos, W. M., Gibson, G. R. & Thissen, J.-P. 2012. Insight into the prebiotic concept: lessons from an exploratory, double blind intervention study with inulin-type fructans in obese women. *Gut*, gutjnl-2012-303304.
- Dubinkina, V. B., Tyakht, A. V., Odintsova, V. Y., Yarygin, K. S., Kovarsky, B. A., Pavlenko, A. V., Ischenko, D. S., Popenko, A. S., Alexeev, D. G. & Taraskina, A. Y. 2017. Links of gut microbiota composition with alcohol dependence syndrome and alcoholic liver disease. *Microbiome*, 5, 141.
- Duncan, S. H., Lobley, G. E., Holtrop, G., Ince, J., Johnstone, A. M., Louis, P. & Flint, H. J. 2008. Human colonic microbiota associated with diet, obesity and weight loss. *International Journal Of Obesity*, **32**, 1720.
- Eckburg, P. B., Bik, E. M., Bernstein, C. N., Purdom, E., Dethlefsen, L., Sargent, M., Gill, S. R., Nelson,K. E. & Relman, D. A. 2005. Diversity of the Human Intestinal Microbial Flora. *Science*, 308, 1635-1638.
- El Aidy, S., Dinan, T. G. & Cryan, J. F. 2014. Immune modulation of the brain-gut-microbe axis. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, **5**, 146.
- El Enshasy, H. A. & Hatti-Kaul, R. 2013. Mushroom immunomodulators: unique molecules with unlimited applications. *Trends in Biotechnology*, **31**, 668-677.
- Engen, P. A., Green, S. J., Voigt, R. M., Forsyth, C. B. & Keshavarzian, A. 2015. The gastrointestinal microbiome: alcohol effects on the composition of intestinal microbiota. *Alcohol research: current reviews*, **37**, 223.
- Everard, A., Lazarevic, V., Derrien, M., Girard, M., Muccioli, G. G., Neyrinck, A. M., Possemiers, S., Van Holle, A., Francois, P., De Vos, W. M., *et al.* 2011. Responses of gut microbiota and glucose and lipid metabolism to prebiotics in genetic obese and diet-induced leptin-resistant mice. *Diabetes*, **60**, 2775-86.
- Faccin, L. C., Benati, F., Rincão, V. P., Mantovani, M. S., Soares, S. A., Gonzaga, M. L., Nozawa, C. & Carvalho Linhares, R. E. 2007. Antiviral activity of aqueous and ethanol extracts and of an isolated polysaccharide from *Agaricus brasiliensis* against poliovirus type 1. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, **45**, 24-28.
- Ferrão L, B. V., Calabrese V, Pimentel L, Pintado M, Fernandes Th 2017. Impact of Mushroom Nutrition on Microbiota and Potential for Preventative Health. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Research*, 5, 226-233.
- Finucane, M. M., Sharpton, T. J., Laurent, T. J. & Pollard, K. S. 2014. A taxonomic signature of obesity in the microbiome? Getting to the guts of the matter. *PLoS One*, **9**, e84689.
- Fisher, M. & Yang, L.-X. 2002. Anticancer effects and mechanisms of polysaccharide-K (PSK): implications of cancer immunotherapy. *Anticancer research*, **22**, 1737-1754.
- Flint, H. J. 2012. The impact of nutrition on the human microbiome. Nutrition Reviews, 70, S10-S13.

- Flint, H. J., Duncan, S. H., Scott, K. P. & Louis, P. 2015. Links between diet, gut microbiota composition and gut metabolism. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, **74**, 13-22.
- Flint, H. J., Scott, K. P., Louis, P. & Duncan, S. H. 2012. The role of the gut microbiota in nutrition and health. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, **9**, 577-89.
- Fraher, M. H., O'toole, P. W. & Quigley, E. M. 2012. Techniques used to characterize the gut microbiota: a guide for the clinician. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, **9**, 312-22.
- Gagnière, J., Raisch, J., Veziant, J., Barnich, N., Bonnet, R., Buc, E., Bringer, M.-A., Pezet, D. & Bonnet,
 M. 2016. Gut microbiota imbalance and colorectal cancer. *World journal of gastroenterology*,
 22, 501.
- Geurts, L., Neyrinck, A. M., Delzenne, N. M., Knauf, C. & Cani, P. D. 2014. Gut microbiota controls adipose tissue expansion, gut barrier and glucose metabolism: novel insights into molecular targets and interventions using prebiotics. *Beneficial Microbes*, **5**, 3-17.
- Gibson, G. R., Hutkins, R., Sanders, M. E., Prescott, S. L., Reimer, R. A., Salminen, S. J., Scott, K., Stanton, C., Swanson, K. S., Cani, P. D., *et al.* 2017. Expert consensus document: The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of prebiotics. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Amp; Hepatology*, **14**, 491.
- Gigante, G., Tortora, A., Ianiro, G., Ojetti, V., Purchiaroni, F., Campanale, M., Cesario, V., Scarpellini,
 E. & Gasbarrini, A. 2011. Role of gut microbiota in food tolerance and allergies. *Digestive Diseases*, 29, 540-9.
- Gkolfakis, P., Dimitriadis, G. & Triantafyllou, K. 2015. Gut microbiota and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatobiliary & Pancreatic Diseases International*, **14**, 572-581.
- Gu, C.-Q., Li, J.-W., Chao, F., Jin, M., Wang, X.-W. & Shen, Z.-Q. 2007. Isolation, identification and function of a novel anti-HSV-1 protein from *Grifola frondosa*. *Antiviral Research*, **75**, 250-257.
- Guinane, C. M. & Cotter, P. D. 2013. Role of the gut microbiota in health and chronic gastrointestinal disease: understanding a hidden metabolic organ. *Therapeutic Advances in Gastroenterology*, 6, 295-308.
- Hartmann, P., Chen, P., Wang, H. J., Wang, L., Mccole, D. F., Brandl, K., Stärkel, P., Belzer, C.,
 Hellerbrand, C. & Tsukamoto, H. 2013. Deficiency of intestinal mucin-2 ameliorates experimental alcoholic liver disease in mice. *Hepatology*, 58, 108-119.
- Hartmann, P., Seebauer, C. T. & Schnabl, B. 2015. Alcoholic liver disease: the gut microbiome and liver cross talk. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, **39**, 763-775.
- Hobbs, C. 2000. Medicinal Value of *Lentinus edodes* (Berk.) Sing. (Agaricomycetideae). A Literature Review. *International Journal of Medicinal Mushrooms*, **2**, 16.
- Hold, G. L., Smith, M., Grange, C., Watt, E. R., El-Omar, E. M. & Mukhopadhya, I. 2014. Role of the gut microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis: what have we learnt in the past 10 years? World journal of gastroenterology, 20, 1192.
- Holscher, H. D. 2017. Dietary fiber and prebiotics and the gastrointestinal microbiota. *Gut Microbes*, **8**, 172-184.

- Hruby, A. & Hu, F. B. 2015. The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. *PharmacoEconomics*, **33**, 673-689.
- Hsu, W.-K., Hsu, T.-H., Lin, F.-Y., Cheng, Y.-K. & Yang, J. P.-W. 2013. Separation, purification, and αglucosidase inhibition of polysaccharides from *Coriolus versicolor* LH1 mycelia. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **92**, 297-306.
- Hu, X., Wang, T. & Jin, F. 2016. Alzheimer's disease and gut microbiota. *Science China Life Sciences*, **59**, 1006-1023.
- Hur, K. Y. & Lee, M.-S. 2015. Gut Microbiota and Metabolic Disorders. *Diabetes & Metabolism Journal*, **39**, 198-203.
- Hutkins, R. W., Krumbeck, J. A., Bindels, L. B., Cani, P. D., Fahey, G., Goh, Y. J., Hamaker, B., Martens,
 E. C., Mills, D. A., Rastal, R. A., *et al.* 2016. Prebiotics: why definitions matter. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, **37**, 1-7.
- Ilhan, Z. E., Marcus, A. K., Kang, D.-W., Rittmann, B. E. & Krajmalnik-Brown, R. 2017. pH-Mediated Microbial and Metabolic Interactions in Fecal Enrichment Cultures. *mSphere*, **2**, e00047-17.
- Jain, I., Kumar, V. & Satyanarayana, T. 2015. Xylooligosaccharides: an economical prebiotic from agroresidues and their health benefits. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*.
- Jayakumar, T., Thomas, P. A. & Geraldine, P. 2009. *In-vitro* antioxidant activities of an ethanolic extract of the oyster mushroom, *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, **10**, 228-234.
- Johansson, T. & Nyman, P. O. 1993. Isozymes of lignin peroxidase and manganese(II) peroxidase from the white-rot basidiomycete *Trametes versicolor*. I. Isolation of enzyme forms and characterization of physical and catalytic properties. *Archives Biochemistry Biophysics*, **300**, 49-56.
- Kabeerdoss, J., Sankaran, V., Pugazhendhi, S. & Ramakrishna, B. S. 2013. *Clostridium leptum* group bacteria abundance and diversity in the fecal microbiota of patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a case–control study in India. *BMC gastroenterology*, **13**, 20-20.
- Kamada, N., Chen, G. Y., Inohara, N. & Núñez, G. 2013a. Control of pathogens and pathobionts by the gut microbiota. *Nature Immunology*, **14**, 685.
- Kamada, N., Seo, S.-U., Chen, G. Y. & Núñez, G. 2013b. Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, **13**, 321.
- Karmali, A. 2014. Comparative Differences in β-1,3-1,6 Glucan content between Ganoderma lucidum (Reishi) mushrooms (Biomas vs Extracted) in the Presence of Proteolytic Enzymes. The Clinical Journal of Mycology, 4, 2-6.
- Kawakami, S., Araki, T., Ohba, K., Sasaki, K., Kamada, T., Shimada, K.-I., Han, K.-H. & Fukushima, M.
 2016. Comparison of the effect of two types of whole mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus*) powders on intestinal fermentation in rats. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 80, 2001-2006.
- Ker, Y.-B., Chen, K.-C., Peng, C.-C., Hsieh, C.-L. & Peng, R. Y. 2011. Structural Characteristics and Antioxidative Capability of the Soluble Polysaccharides Present in *Dictyophora indusiata* (Vent. Ex Pers.) Fish Phallaceae. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, **2011**, 9.

- Kim, G.-Y., Choi, G.-S., Lee, S.-H. & Park, Y.-M. 2004. Acidic polysaccharide isolated from *Phellinus linteus* enhances through the up-regulation of nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factor-α from peritoneal macrophages. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, **95**, 69-76.
- Kim, Y. O., Han, S. B., Lee, H. W., Ahn, H. J., Yoon, Y. D., Jung, J. K., Kim, H. M. & Shin, C. S. 2005. Immuno-stimulating effect of the endo-polysaccharide produced by submerged culture of *Inonotus obliquus. Life Sciences*, **77**, 2438-2456.
- Klingelhoefer, L. & Reichmann, H. 2015. Pathogenesis of Parkinson disease—the gut–brain axis and environmental factors. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, **11**, 625.
- Kozarski, M., Klaus, A., Nikšić, M., Vrvić, M. M., Todorović, N., Jakovljević, D. & Van Griensven, L. J. 2012. Antioxidative activities and chemical characterization of polysaccharide extracts from the widely used mushrooms *Ganoderma applanatum*, *Ganoderma lucidum*, *Lentinus edodes* and *Trametes versicolor*. Journal of food composition and analysis, **26**, 144-153.
- Lange, K., Buerger, M., Stallmach, A. & Bruns, T. 2016. Effects of Antibiotics on Gut Microbiota. *Digestive Diseases*, **34**, 260-268.
- Lay, C., Rigottier-Gois, L., Holmstrom, K., Rajilic, M., Vaughan, E. E., De Vos, W. M., Collins, M. D., Thiel, R., Namsolleck, P., Blaut, M., *et al.* 2005. Colonic microbiota signatures across five northern European countries. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, **71**, 4153-5.
- Lee, C.-L., Yang, X. & Wan, J. M.-F. 2006. The culture duration affects the immunomodulatory and anticancer effect of polysaccharopeptide derived from *Coriolus versicolor*. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, **38**, 14-21.
- Li, G., Yu, K., Li, F., Xu, K., Li, J., He, S., Cao, S. & Tan, G. 2014. Anticancer potential of *Hericium erinaceus* extracts against human gastrointestinal cancers. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, **153**, 521-530.
- Li, S., Yingyi, G., Chen, L., Lijuan, G., Ou, S. & Peng, X. 2015. Lean rats gained more body weight from a high-fructooligosaccharide diet. *Food & Function*, **6**, 2315-21.
- Liu, F., Li, P., Chen, M., Luo, Y., Prabhakar, M., Zheng, H., He, Y., Qi, Q., Long, H., Zhang, Y., et al. 2017. Fructooligosaccharide (FOS) and Galactooligosaccharide (GOS) Increase *Bifidobacterium* but Reduce Butyrate Producing Bacteria with Adverse Glycemic Metabolism in healthy young population. *Scientific Reports*, **7**, 11789.
- Liu, J., Jia, L., Kan, J. & Jin, C. H. 2013. *In vitro* and *in vivo* antioxidant activity of ethanolic extract of white button mushroom (*Agaricus bisporus*). *Food Chem Toxicol*, **51**, 310-6.
- López, M. J., Elorrieta, M. A., Vargas-GarcíA, M. C., Suárez-Estrella, F. & Moreno, J. 2002. The effect of aeration on the biotransformation of lignocellulosic wastes by white-rot fungi. *Bioresource Technology*, **81**, 123-129.
- Louis, P., Hold, G. L. & Flint, H. J. 2014. The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, **12**, 661.
- Lozupone, C. A., Stombaugh, J. I., Gordon, J. I., Jansson, J. K. & Knight, R. 2012. Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. *Nature*, **489**, 220-230.
- Lukeš, J., Stensvold, C. R., Jirků-Pomajbíková, K. & Wegener Parfrey, L. 2015. Are Human Intestinal Eukaryotes Beneficial or Commensals? *PLOS Pathogens*, **11**, e1005039.

- Luo, K.-W., Yue, G. G.-L., Ko, C.-H., Lee, J. K.-M., Gao, S., Li, L.-F., Li, G., Fung, K.-P., Leung, P.-C. & Bik-San Lau, C. 2014. *In vivo* and *in vitro* anti-tumor and anti-metastasis effects of *Coriolus versicolor* aqueous extract on mouse mammary 4T1 carcinoma. *Phytomedicine*, **21**, 1078-1087.
- Madureira, A. R., Pereira, C. I., Truszkowska, K., Gomes, A. M., Pintado, M. E. & Malcata, F. X. 2005. Survival of probiotic bacteria in a whey cheese vector submitted to environmental conditions prevailing in the gastrointestinal tract. *International Dairy Journal*, **15**, 921-927.
- Mao, B., Li, D., Zhao, J., Liu, X., Gu, Z., Chen, Y. Q., Zhang, H. & Chen, W. 2015. Metagenomic Insights into the Effects of Fructo-oligosaccharides (FOS) on the Composition of Fecal Microbiota in Mice. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **63**, 856-863.
- Marchesi, J. R. 2010. Chapter 2 Prokaryotic and Eukaryotic Diversity of the Human Gut. *In:* Laskin, A. I., Sariaslani, S. & Gadd, G. M. (eds.) *Advances in Applied Microbiology.* Academic Press.
- Marchesi, J. R., Adams, D. H., Fava, F., Hermes, G. D., Hirschfield, G. M., Hold, G., Quraishi, M. N., Kinross, J., Smidt, H., Tuohy, K. M., *et al.* 2016. The gut microbiota and host health: a new clinical frontier. *Gut*, **65**, 330-9.
- Marciano, F. & Vajro, P. 2017. Chapter 8 Oxidative Stress and Gut Microbiota. *In:* Gracia-Sancho, J. & Salvadó, J. (eds.) *Gastrointestinal Tissue*. Academic Press.
- Mariat, D., Firmesse, O., Levenez, F., Guimarăes, V., Sokol, H., Doré, J., Corthier, G. & Furet, J.-P. 2009. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. *BMC Microbiology*, **9**, 123.
- Marques, C., Meireles, M., Norberto, S., Leite, J., Freitas, J., Pestana, D., Faria, A. & Calhau, C. 2016. High-fat diet-induced obesity Rat model: a comparison between Wistar and Sprague-Dawley Rat. *Adipocyte*, **5**, 11-21.
- Matsuki, T., Watanabe, K., Fujimoto, J., Takada, T. & Tanaka, R. 2004. Use of 16S rRNA gene-targeted group-specific primers for real-time PCR analysis of predominant bacteria in human feces. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, **70**.
- Matsuoka, K. & Kanai, T. 2015. The gut microbiota and inflammatory bowel disease. *Seminars in Immunopathology*, **37**, 47-55.
- Mayer, E. A., Tillisch, K. & Gupta, A. 2015. Gut/brain axis and the microbiota. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, **125**, 926-938.
- Mcdonald, J. a. K. 2017. *In vitro* models of the human microbiota and microbiome. *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences*, **1**, 373.
- Mendlik, K., Albrecht, J. A. & Schnepf, M. 2012. Effects of Fructooligofructoses chain length on the *Bifidobacteria* of the Human Colon: A Pilot Study. *Food and Nutrition Sciences*, **3**, 1615.
- Meyer, D. & Stasse-Wolthuis, M. 2009. The bifidogenic effect of inulin and oligofructose and its consequences for gut health. *European Journal Of Clinical Nutrition*, **63**, 1277.
- Million, M., Lagier, J. C., Yahav, D. & Paul, M. 2013. Gut bacterial microbiota and obesity. *Clinical Microbioly & Infection*, **19**, 305-13.
- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carriere, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M. & Dupont, D. 2014. A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food–an international consensus. *Food & Function*, **5**, 1113-1124.

- Minot, S., Sinha, R., Chen, J., Li, H., Keilbaugh, S. A., Wu, G. D., Lewis, J. D. & Bushman, F. D. 2011.
 The human gut virome: inter-individual variation and dynamic response to diet. *Genome Res*, 21, 1616-25.
- Mittal, R., Debs, L. H., Patel, A. P., Nguyen, D., Patel, K., O'connor, G., Grati, M. H., Mittal, J., Yan, D., Eshraghi, A. A., *et al.* 2017. Neurotransmitters: The Critical Modulators Regulating Gut-Brain Axis. *Journal of cellular physiology*, **232**, 2359-2372.
- Morgen, C. S. & Sørensen, T. I. A. 2014. Global trends in the prevalence of overweight and obesity. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, **10**, 513.
- Mueller, S., Saunier, K., Hanisch, C., Norin, E., Alm, L., Midtvedt, T., Cresci, A., Silvi, S., Orpianesi, C.
 & Verdenelli, M. C. 2006. Differences in fecal microbiota in different European study populations in relation to age, gender, and country: a cross-sectional study. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, **72**, 1027-1033.
- Ngom-Bru, C. & Barretto, C. 2012. Gut microbiota: methodological aspects to describe taxonomy and functionality. *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, **13**, 747-750.
- Odamaki, T., Kato, K., Sugahara, H., Hashikura, N., Takahashi, S., Xiao, J.-Z., Abe, F. & Osawa, R. 2016. Age-related changes in gut microbiota composition from newborn to centenarian: a crosssectional study. *BMC Microbiology*, **16**, 90.
- Okamoto, T., Kodoi, R., Nonaka, Y., Fukuda, I., Hashimoto, T., Kanazawa, K., Mizuno, M. & Ashida, H.
 2004. Lentinan from shiitake mushroom (*Lentinus edodes*) suppresses expression of cytochrome P450 1A subfamily in the mouse liver. *BioFactors*, **21**, 407-409.
- Ou, J., Carbonero, F., Zoetendal, E. G., Delany, J. P., Wang, M., Newton, K., Gaskins, H. R. & O'keefe,
 S. J. 2013. Diet, microbiota, and microbial metabolites in colon cancer risk in rural Africans and
 African Americans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **98**, 111-20.
- Pallav, K., Dowd, S. E., Villafuerte, J., Yang, X., Kabbani, T., Hansen, J., Dennis, M., Leffler, D. A., Newburg, D. S. & Kelly, C. P. 2014. Effects of polysaccharopeptide from *Trametes Versicolor* and amoxicillin on the gut microbiome of healthy volunteers. *Gut Microbes*, 5, 458-467.
- Pang, Z., Chen, Y., Zhou, M. & Wan, J. 2000. Effect of polysaccharide krestin on glutathione peroxidase gene expression in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *British journal of biomedical science*, **57**, 130.
- Parnell, J. A. & Reimer, R. A. 2011. Prebiotic fibres dose-dependently increase satiety hormones and alter Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes in lean and obese JCR:LA-cp rats. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **107**, 601-613.
- Patel, S. & Goyal, A. 2012. The current trends and future perspectives of prebiotics research: a review. *3 Biotech, 2*, 115-125.
- Payne, A. N., Zihler, A., Chassard, C. & Lacroix, C. 2012. Advances and perspectives in *in vitro* human gut fermentation modeling. *Trends in Biotechnology*, **30**, 17-25.
- Pineiro, M., Asp, N. G., Reid, G., Macfarlane, S., Morelli, L., Brunser, O. & Tuohy, K. 2008. FAO Technical meeting on prebiotics. *J Clin Gastroenterol*, **42** S156-9.
- Pryde, S. E., Duncan, S. H., Hold, G. L., Stewart, C. S. & Flint, H. J. 2002. The microbiology of butyrate formation in the human colon. *FEMS microbiology letters*, **217**, 133-139.

- Purohit, V., Bode, J. C., Bode, C., Brenner, D. A., Choudhry, M. A., Hamilton, F., Kang, Y. J., Keshavarzian, A., Rao, R. & Sartor, R. B. 2008. Alcohol, intestinal bacterial growth, intestinal permeability to endotoxin, and medical consequences: summary of a symposium. *Alcohol*, **42**, 349-361.
- Qin, J., Li, R., Raes, J., Arumugam, M., Burgdorf, K. S., Manichanh, C., Nielsen, T., Pons, N., Levenez, F., Yamada, T., *et al.* 2010. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature*, **464**, 59-65.
- Queipo-Ortuno, M. I., Seoane, L. M., Murri, M., Pardo, M., Gomez-Zumaquero, J. M., Cardona, F., Casanueva, F. & Tinahones, F. J. 2013. Gut microbiota composition in male rat models under different nutritional status and physical activity and its association with serum leptin and ghrelin levels. *PLoS One*, **8**, e65465.
- Quigley, E. M. M. 2010. Prebiotics and probiotics; modifying and mining the microbiota. *Pharmacological Research*, **61**, 213-218.
- Quigley, E. M. M. 2013. Gut Bacteria in Health and Disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y), 9, 560-9.
- Rajilić-Stojanović, M. & De Vos, W. M. 2014. The first 1000 cultured species of the human gastrointestinal microbiota. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, **38**, 996-1047.
- Rau, U., Kuenz, A., Wray, V., Nimtz, M., Wrenger, J. & Cicek, H. 2009. Production and structural analysis of the polysaccharide secreted by *Trametes (Coriolus) versicolor* ATCC 200801. *Applied Microbiology Biotechnology*, **81**, 827-37.
- Reis, F. S., Martins, A., Vasconcelos, M. H., Morales, P. & Ferreira, I. C. F. R. 2017. Functional foods based on extracts or compounds derived from mushrooms. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 66, 48-62.
- Riaz Rajoka, M. S., Shi, J., Mehwish, H. M., Zhu, J., Li, Q., Shao, D., Huang, Q. & Yang, H. 2017. Interaction between diet composition and gut microbiota and its impact on gastrointestinal tract health. *Food Science and Human Wellness*, **6**, 121-130.
- Ríos-Covián, D., Ruas-Madiedo, P., Margolles, A., Gueimonde, M., De Los Reyes-Gavilán, C. G. & Salazar, N. 2016. Intestinal Short Chain Fatty Acids and their Link with Diet and Human Health. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, **7**, 185.
- Rios-Covian, D., Salazar, N., Gueimonde, M. & De Los Reyes-Gavilan, C. G. 2017. Shaping the Metabolism of Intestinal Bacteroides Population through Diet to Improve Human Health. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, **8**, 376-376.
- Rizzardini, G., Eskesen, D., Calder, P. C., Capetti, A., Jespersen, L. & Clerici, M. 2011. Evaluation of the immune benefits of two probiotic strains *Bifidobacterium animalis ssp. lactis*, BB-12® and *Lactobacillus paracasei ssp. paracasei*, *L. casei* 431® in an influenza vaccination model: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **107**, 876-884.
- Roberfroid, M. B., Van Loo, J. A. & Gibson, G. R. 1998. The bifidogenic nature of chicory inulin and its hydrolysis products. *J Nutr*, **128**, 11-19.
- Rodrigues, D., Walton, G., Sousa, S., Rocha-Santos, T. A., Duarte, A. C., Freitas, A. C. & Gomes, A.
 M. 2016. *In vitro* fermentation and prebiotic potential of selected extracts from seaweeds and mushrooms. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, **73**, 131-139.

- Rodríguez, J. M., Murphy, K., Stanton, C., Ross, R. P., Kober, O. I., Juge, N., Avershina, E., Rudi, K., Narbad, A., Jenmalm, M. C., *et al.* 2015. The composition of the gut microbiota throughout life, with an emphasis on early life. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, **26**, 10.3402/mehd.v26.26050.
- Rossi, M., Corradini, C., Amaretti, A., Nicolini, M., Pompei, A., Zanoni, S. & Matteuzzi, D. 2005. Fermentation of fructooligosaccharides and inulin by bifidobacteria: a comparative study of pure and fecal cultures. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, **71**, 6150-6158.
- Rowland, I., Gibson, G., Heinken, A., Scott, K., Swann, J., Thiele, I. & Tuohy, K. 2017. Gut microbiota functions: metabolism of nutrients and other food components. *European Journal of Nutrition*.
- Royse, D. J. A global perspective on the high five: *Agaricus*, *Pleurotus*, *Lentinula*, *Auricularia* & *Flammulina*. Proceedings of the 8th international conference on mushroom biology and mushroom products 2014. 1-6.
- Russell, D. A., Ross, R. P., Fitzgerald, G. F. & Stanton, C. 2011. Metabolic activities and probiotic potential of bifidobacteria. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, **149**, 88-105.
- Sampson, Timothy r. & Mazmanian, Sarkis k. 2015. Control of Brain Development, Function, and Behavior by the Microbiome. *Cell Host & Microbe*, **17**, 565-576.
- Saunier, K., Rougé, C., Lay, C., Rigottier-Gois, L. & Doré, J. 2005. Enumeration of bacteria from the *Clostridium leptum* subgroup in human faecal microbiota using Clep1156 16S rRNA probe in combination with helper and competitor oligonucleotides. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 28, 454-464.
- Schloss, P. D., Iverson, K. D., Petrosino, J. F. & Schloss, S. J. 2014. The dynamics of a family's gut microbiota reveal variations on a theme. *Microbiome*, **2**, 25.
- Schnorr, S. L., Candela, M., Rampelli, S., Centanni, M., Consolandi, C., Basaglia, G., Turroni, S., Biagi,
 E., Peano, C., Severgnini, M., *et al.* 2014. Gut microbiome of the Hadza hunter-gatherers. *Nature Communications*, 5, 3654.
- Schwiertz, A., Taras, D., Schafer, K., Beijer, S., Bos, N. A., Donus, C. & Hardt, P. D. 2010. Microbiota and SCFA in lean and overweight healthy subjects. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, **18**, 190-5.
- Scott, K. P., Gratz, S. W., Sheridan, P. O., Flint, H. J. & Duncan, S. H. 2013. The influence of diet on the gut microbiota. *Pharmacological Research*, **69**, 52-60.
- Sekhon, B. K., Sze, D. M.-Y., Chan, W. K., Fan, K., Li, G. Q., Moore, D. E. & Roubin, R. H. 2013. PSP activates monocytes in resting human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: Immunomodulatory implications for cancer treatment. *Food Chem*, **138**, 2201-2209.
- Singh, S., Wang, H., Chan, Y., Pan, W., Dan, X., Yin, C., Akkouh, O. & Ng, T. 2014. Lectins from edible mushrooms. *Molecules*, **20**, 446-469.
- Slavin, J. 2013. Fiber and Prebiotics: Mechanisms and Health Benefits. Nutrients, 5, 1417.
- Song, S. J., Lauber, C., Costello, E. K., Lozupone, C. A., Humphrey, G., Berg-Lyons, D., Caporaso, J.
 G., Knights, D., Clemente, J. C., Nakielny, S., *et al.* 2013. Cohabiting family members share microbiota with one another and with their dogs. *eLife*, *2*, e00458-e00458.

- Stachowiak, B. & Reguła, J. 2012. Health-promoting potential of edible macromycetes under specialconsideration of polysaccharides: a review. *European Food Research and Technology*, 369-380.
- Strandwitz, P. 2018. Neurotransmitter modulation by the gut microbiota. *Brain Research*, **1693**, 128-133.
- Sun, J., He, H. & Xie, B. J. 2004. Novel Antioxidant Peptides from Fermented Mushroom *Ganoderma lucidum*. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, **52**, 6646-6652.
- Sun, Y. & O'riordan, M. X. 2013. Regulation of bacterial pathogenesis by intestinal Short-Chain Fatty Acids. *Advances in applied microbiology*. Elsevier.
- Synytsya, A., Míčková, K., Synytsya, A., Jablonský, I., Spěváček, J., Erban, V., Kováříková, E. & Čopíková, J. 2009. Glucans from fruit bodies of cultivated mushrooms *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Pleurotus eryngii*: Structure and potential prebiotic activity. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **76**, 548-556.
- Szablewski, L. 2018. Human Gut Microbiota in Health and Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, **62**, 549-560.
- Thomas, V., Clark, J. & Dore, J. 2015. Fecal microbiota analysis: an overview of sample collection methods and sequencing strategies. *Future Microbiology*, **10**, 1485-504.
- Thursby, E. & Juge, N. 2017. Introduction to the human gut microbiota. *Biochemical Journal*, **474**, 1823-1836.
- Turroni, F., Ventura, M., Buttó, L. F., Duranti, S., O'toole, P. W., Motherway, M. O. C. & Van Sinderen,
 D. 2014. Molecular dialogue between the human gut microbiota and the host: a *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* perspective. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, **71**, 183-203.
- Vandenplas, Y., Zakharova, I. & Dmitrieva, Y. 2015. Oligosaccharides in infant formula: more evidence to validate the role of prebiotics. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **113**, 1339-1344.
- Viggiano, D., Ianiro, G., Vanella, G., Bibbo, S., Bruno, G., Simeone, G. & Mele, G. 2015. Gut barrier in health and disease: focus on childhood. *European Review for Medical Pharmacological Sciences*, **19**, 1077-85.
- Wang, B., Yao, M., Lv, L., Ling, Z. & Li, L. 2017. The Human Microbiota in Health and Disease. *Engineering*, **3**, 71-82.
- Wang, Y. & Kasper, L. H. 2014. The role of microbiome in central nervous system disorders. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity,* **38**, 1-12.
- Wu, G. D., Bushmanc, F. D. & Lewis, J. D. 2013. Diet, the human gut microbiota, and IBD. *Anaerobe*, **24**, 117-120.
- Wu, G. D., Chen, J., Hoffmann, C., Bittinger, K., Chen, Y.-Y., Keilbaugh, S. A., Bewtra, M., Knights, D.,
 Walters, W. A., Knight, R., *et al.* 2011. Linking Long-Term Dietary Patterns with Gut Microbial
 Enterotypes. *Science*, 334, 105.
- Xu, X., Yan, H., Chen, J. & Zhang, X. 2011. Bioactive proteins from mushrooms. *Biotechnology Advances*, **29**, 667-674.
- Xu, X. & Zhang, X. 2015. *Lentinula edodes*-derived polysaccharide alters the spatial structure of gut microbiota in mice. *PLoS One*, **10**, e0115037.

- Yadav, J. K. & Prakash, V. 2011. Stabilization of α-amylase, the key enzyme in carbohydrates properties alterations, at low pH. *International journal of food properties*, **14**, 1182-1196.
- Yang, L.-J., Wang, R.-T., Liu, J.-S., Tong, H., Deng, Y.-Q. & Li, Q.-H. 2004. The effect of *Polyporus umbellatus* polysaccharide on the immunosuppression property of culture supernatant of S180 cells. *Chinese journal of cellular and molecular immunology*, **20**, 234-237.
- Yang, S.-F., Zhuang, T.-F., Si, Y.-M., Qi, K.-Y. & Zhao, J. 2015. *Coriolus versicolor* mushroom polysaccharides exert immunoregulatory effects on mouse B cells via membrane Ig and TLR-4 to activate the MAPK and NF-κB signaling pathways. *Molecular immunology*, **64**, 144-151.
- Yatsunenko, T., Rey, F. E., Manary, M. J., Trehan, I., Dominguez-Bello, M. G., Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Baldassano, R. N., Anokhin, A. P., *et al.* 2012. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature*, **486**, 222.
- Yoo, J. & Kim, S. 2016. Probiotics and Prebiotics: Present Status and Future Perspectives on Metabolic Disorders. *Nutrients*, **8**, 173.
- Yu, Z.-T., Liu, B., Mukherjee, P. & Newburg, D. S. 2013. *Trametes versicolor* Extract Modifies Human Fecal Microbiota Composition *In vitro*. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, **68**, 107-112.
- Zhang, M., Huang, J., Xie, X. & Holman, C. D. a. J. 2009. Dietary intakes of mushrooms and green tea combine to reduce the risk of breast cancer in Chinese women. *International Journal of Cancer*, **124**, 1404-1408.
- Zimmer, J., Lange, B., Frick, J. S., Sauer, H., Zimmermann, K., Schwiertz, A., Rusch, K., Klosterhalfen,
 S. & Enck, P. 2012. A vegan or vegetarian diet substantially alters the human colonic faecal microbiota. *European Journal Of Clinical Nutrition*, 66, 53-60.
- Zopf, Y., Hahn, E. G., Raithel, M., Baenkler, H.-W. & Silbermann, A. 2009. The Differential Diagnosis of Food Intolerance. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, **106**, 359-370.